Department of Social Research University of Helsinki Helsinki

INCOME AND MORTALITY – THE DYNAMICS OF DISPARITY

A STUDY ON THE CHANGING ASSOCIATION BETWEEN INCOME AND MORTALITY IN FINLAND

Lasse Tarkiainen

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Social Sciences of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in Auditorium XV, University main building, on 27 May 2016, at 10 am.

Helsinki 2016

Publications of the Faculty of Social Sciences 16 (2016) Sociology

© Lasse Tarkiainen

Cover: Riikka Hyypiä & Hanna Sario

Distribution and Sales: Unigrafia Bookstore http://kirjakauppa.unigrafia.fi/ books@unigrafia.fi

ISSN 2343-273X (print) ISSN 2343-2748 (online) ISBN 978-951-51-1077-0 (pbk.) ISBN 978-951-51-1078-7 (PDF)

Unigrafia Helsinki 2016

ABSTRACT

Disparities in longevity by income level have been reported in numerous studies in Western industrialized societies, including the Nordic welfare states. It has been found that the association between income and mortality is influenced by other aspects of socioeconomic position, namely education and occupation, as well as by other individual characteristics over the life course including employment status and living arrangements. However, few studies have focused on the possible changes over time in the association. The widening disparity in mortality by education and occupation, together with changes in the distribution of predictors of mortality attributable to changes in Finnish society imply that income disparity in mortality does not remain static over time.

The main aim in this thesis is to describe mortality trends in Finland by household income quintiles, and to investigate the age- and cause-of-death structure of any changes among these groups in 1988-2012. A further aim is to investigate the income-mortality association independently of the individual socio-demographic factors that are present in childhood and adulthood, and how this association has changed over time. Given the identified differences in income disparity by cause of death, being particularly pronounced in alcohol-related causes, the study also focuses on the possibly changing effect of the socio-demographic explanatory factors on income disparity with regard to alcohol-related mortality.

The study data derives mainly from nationally representative samples of 80 per cent of all deaths in Finland in 1988-2007, including individual-level annual information on socio-demographic characteristics. The data originates from various administrative registers linked to cause-specific mortality records in 1988-2012, and also includes data linking these registers to 1950 census information. Disparities in mortality among those aged over 35 were analysed by calculating life expectancies and their decomposition, and fitting survival regression models to the data.

Life expectancy among the highest four quintiles increased substantially over the study period, but stagnation among men and a very slow and minor increase among women caused the disparity with other quintiles to increase markedly in the lowest quintile. The increasing disparity originated to a slightly greater extent from 35-64-year-olds than from older age groups, mainly due to increasing or stagnating mortality in the lowest quintile. Alcohol-related causes of death were the main drivers of the adverse mortality trend in the lowest quintile, although disparities in cancer mortality and ischaemic heart diseases among men also increased the gap in life expectancy between the highest and lowest income quintiles.

The absolute disparity in mortality between the highest and lowest quintiles increased markedly among 35-64-year-olds in 1988-2007.

Mortality relative to the highest quintile increased between 1988-91 and 2004-07 in all other quintiles even following adjustment for individual sociodemographic characteristics including education, occupation, economic activity, and living alone. Changes in the socio-demographic composition of the income quintiles did not explain the increasing or stagnating mortality level in the lowest quintile in 2004-07 among men and women.

The disparity in mortality between individual income quintiles among those aged 35-72 also persisted following adjustment for observed and unobserved factors of childhood family background shared by siblings. In other words, the income-mortality association occurred also within families. Adulthood socio-demographic characteristics were considerably more relevant explanatory factors than childhood characteristics, but the disparity remained even when both were controlled for. This observation was consistent over three cause-of-death groups: cardiovascular diseases, alcohol/violent/accidental causes, and other causes.

The income-mortality association in 1988-2012 originated increasingly from alcohol-related causes in all quintiles, but particularly due to a substantial increase in alcohol mortality in the lowest quintile. Education, occupation and employment status explained 50-60 per cent of the excess alcohol-related mortality in the lowest quintile among men despite the increasing mortality. The proportion even declined among women over the study period, from roughly 70 to 30 per cent.

The individual socio-demographic characteristics in question and their increased prevalence in the lowest quintile did not explain the observed increasing or stagnating mortality among those with a low income. The change in the cause-of-death composition of the disparity in mortality towards alcohol-related causes implies that mental and behavioural problems such as alcohol abuse are increasingly connected to low economic resources. This development may be attributable to the increasingly harmful effects of being on a low income. On the other hand, unobserved personal characteristics harmful to health may increasingly accumulate among those on a low income, and this could be the result of the strengthening selection of persons with poor health and alcohol-use disorders into low income. Both causal and selective paths are likely to be affected by the increasing affordability of alcohol. In any case, the failure of education, occupation and employment status to explain the increasing disparity in alcohol mortality points to a need for research concentrating on other factors associated with processes leading to increasing excess mortality at the low end of the incomedistribution scale, particularly in terms of alcohol-related deaths.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was conducted at the Population Research Unit (PRU) of Department of Social Research at the University of Helsinki. I wish to thank the Department and its staff for providing facilities and precious services that make the life of a researcher quite a bit easier. I thank also SOVAKO doctoral school for the funding I've received in 2014. This work would not have been possible without the extraordinary data compiled and provided by Statistics Finland. I'm in deep gratitude towards the head of PRU Professor Pekka Martikainen and his predecessor Professor Emeritus Tapani Valkonen as they offered me the opportunity to work in the research unit on various interesting projects, one of which eventually evolved into this thesis. Pekka Martikainen, as the principal supervisor of this work, has been essential not only regarding this thesis but also my career as a researcher this far. He always seems to find the opportunities in problems and identify those problems one should not lose sleep over. This ability combined with his relaxed attitude and deep scientific expertise have been precious to this whole process. Docent Mikko Laaksonen as the supervisor of this thesis and co-author of the articles has offered invaluable help with his thorough advices and comments regarding all possible aspects of the study. I am honoured to have had the chance to work with Tapani Valkonen, the pioneer of register based research, and learn from his decades-long experience in mortality research. I'm also happy that after starting the sociology studies together with Mikko Aaltonen back in the days, this path has culminated in co-authoring the third sub-study with him. The pre-examiners Professor Tony Blakely and Docent Pia Mäkelä have indeed had an impact on this thesis with their sharp-sighted comments that have helped to sharpen the focus on some aspects and generally improving the whole story. I wish to thank also Professor Anton Kunst for accepting to serve as the opponent for the public examination of this thesis.

The Population, Health and Living Conditions doctoral program and its regular seminars has been an excellent way to learn from some of the brightest minds in the field, both young and old(ish). The atmosphere encouraging discussion and friendly laughter owes to all the doctoral students but also the coordinators and steering group of Professors Eero Lahelma, Ossi Rahkonen, Pekka Martikainen and Docents Karri Silventoinen and Ari Haukkala. Luckily the scientific discussion ranging wide spectrum of subjects has not been restricted to seminars alone as my fellow colleagues at PRU who do not only possess immense knowledge on register-based research but are also always willing to share it and their company over lunch. Hanna Remes, Elina Einiö, Netta Mäki, Outi Sirniö, Fanny Kilpi, Jessica Nisen, Elina Mäenpää, Kaarina Korhonen, Niina Metsä-Simola, Janne Mikkonen, Taina Leinonen to name a few. Particularly I want to thank Heta Moustgaard for enduring so much of my cryptic mumbling slowly forming into questions and arguments.

Wide array of people have helped me to keep attached to the empirical world instead of floating away to the space of theories and statistical models. The urban gardeners and beekeepers at Kääntöpöytä and folks at Bermuda Helsinki have been pivotal for my urge of creating something else than science. I joyfully cheer to Miika Tervonen, Outi Kuittinen, Antto Vihma, Timo Wright, Eeva Astala, Janne Masalin, Jukka Helin, Ulla Kulmala, Liisa Kallajoki, Elsa Hessle, Lotta Mattila, Anna Valtonen, Jyrki Vanamo, Minna Nyrhinen, Johanna Niemi, Lotta Hakala, Timo Santala and all the other friendly dinosaurs who have made this ride a very smooth one in the parks, bars and beaches of Helsinki and the globe. However, this work would have never happened without the care and loving from my parents Eila and Pekka and my brother Sami who all have supported me since the day one. Most of all, thank you Sara for being there with your precious encouragement through the ups and downs of this journey to PhD.

In Kruununhaka, Helsinki April 28th, 2016

Lasse Tarkiainen

CONTENTS

A	bst	ract	
A	ckr	nowled	lgements5
C	ont	ents	
Li	st	of orig	inal publications9
A	bbı	reviati	ons10
1		Intro	duction11
2		Incor empi	ne differences in mortality – the theoretical framework and rical evidence
	2.	1	Socioeconomic determinants of mortality13
	2.	2	Explanations of the socioeconomic gradient in mortality and health14
		2.2.1	Mechanisms linking socioeconomic position to health 15
		2.2.2	Direct and indirect selection 20
		2.2.3	The association between income and mortality over the life course: an explanatory framework
	2.	3	The temporal perspective26
3		The H	Finnish context
4		The a	ims of the study32
5		Mate	rials and methods34
	5.	1	Data sources and study designs34
	5.	2	Variables35
		5.2.1	Measures of income35
		5.2.2	Socio-demographic characteristics36
		5.2.3	Cause of death
	5.	3	Statistical methods
6		Resu	lts

	6.1	Trends in life expectancy by income from 1988 to 2007: decomposition by age and cause of death (sub-study I)41
	6.2	The changing relationship between income and mortality in Finland, 1988-2007 (sub-study II)45
	6.3	Childhood family background and mortality differences by income in adulthood (sub-study III)
	6.4	The contribution of education, social class and economic activity to the association between income and alcohol-related mortality (sub-study IV)
7	Discu	ussion55
	7.1	A summary of the main findings55
	7.2	Mortality trends in income groups56
	7.2.1	Socio-demographic factors explaining the disparity in mortality by income56
	7.3	Childhood family conditions as an explanatory factor of disparity in mortality by income
	7.4	The cause-of-death composition of changes in the association between income and mortality
	7.4.1	Alcohol-related causes of death63
	7.4.2	Explanations of the strengthening association between income and alcohol-related mortality65
	7.5	Methodological considerations
	7.5.1	Register data67
	7.5.2	Income measurement 68
	7.5.3	Statistical methods70
	7.6	Implications for policy
8	Conc	clusions74
9	Refe	rences76

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications:

- I Tarkiainen, L., Martikainen, P., Laaksonen, M., & Valkonen, T. 2012. Trends in Life Expectancy by Income from 1988 to 2007: Decomposition by Age and Cause of Death. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 66: 573–78.
- II Tarkiainen, L., Martikainen, P. & Laaksonen, M. 2013. The Changing Relationship between Income and Mortality in Finland, 1988–2007." Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 67: 21–27.
- III Tarkiainen, L., Martikainen, P. & Laaksonen, M. & Aaltonen M.
 2015. Childhood Family Background and Mortality Differences by Income in Adulthood: Fixed-Effects Analysis of Finnish Siblings. The European Journal of Public Health 25 (2): 305–10.
- IV Tarkiainen, L., Martikainen, P. & Laaksonen, M. 2016. The contribution of education, social class and economic activity to the income-mortality association in alcohol-related and other mortality in 1988-2012. Addiction 111 (3): 456–64.

The publications are referred to in the text by their roman numerals and are reprinted with the kind permission of the publishers.

ABBREVIATIONS

BMI	Body mass index
CI	Confidence interval
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
HR	Hazard ratio
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
IHD	Ischaemic heart disease
ISCED	International Standard Classification of Education
KHB	Karlson, Holm, Breen -decomposition method
OR	Odds ratio
RR	Rate ratio
WHO	World Health Organization

1 INTRODUCTION

Numerous studies conducted in Western industrialized countries in recent socioeconomic disparities decades have documented in mortality (Mackenbach et al., 2003). Elevated mortality generally occurs in the lower categories of each of the interrelated main dimensions of socioeconomic position, which are most commonly considered to be education, occupational social class and income (Backlund et al., 1996; Lynch and Kaplan, 2000; Martikainen et al., 2009). Increasing relative and, to some extent, absolute disparities in mortality by socioeconomic position have also been identified in several European countries, particularly in the northern and eastern parts of the continent. Most studies exploring trends in mortality and changes in socioeconomic differentials in recent decades have concentrated on occupational social classes and educational groups. (Kunst et al., 2004; Mackenbach et al., 2003; Mackenbach et al., 2015b; Martikainen et al., 2001a: Strand et al., 2014: Valkonen et al., 2009: Valkonen and Martikainen. 2006; Wamala et al., 2006) In terms of income, most studies focusing on disparity in mortality take a rather static temporal perspective. Many of them are cross-sectional, or have only a short follow-up, although a few include indicators of mortality differences among income groups covering several periods (Kondo et al., 2014; Rognerud and Zahl, 2006; Wamala et al., 2006). With regard to the US and New Zealand, income has been more widely used in exploring disparity trends (Blakely et al., 2004, 2008; Cristia, 2009; Pappas et al., 1993: Wamala et al., 2006).

There are advantages in using income as a measure of socioeconomic position. Theoretical explanations of socioeconomic disparities in health and mortality emphasize the material factors and their physical and psychological impact on processes determining health status and longevity. Income is a relatively accurate measure of an individual's current material living conditions, and in allowing the identification of individuals experiencing material disadvantage is well in tune with the theoretical explanations. Economically disadvantaged groups are also specifically targeted in programmes tackling the disparity in mortality. The WHO Health 21 programme for the European region aims to reduce the gap in life expectancy between socioeconomic groups by at least 25 per cent by 2020 (World Health Organization, 1999). Accordingly, a similar goal has been adopted on the national level in many European countries, including Finland (Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, 2001).

The association between income and both mortality and morbidity is affected on the individual level by a variety of factors during the person's life course. Childhood family background, events during early adulthood in terms of educational choices, and occupational and employment status in the labour market are among the characteristics that are linked with the incomemortality association observed in adulthood (Kawachi et al., 2010). These characteristics and their prevalence in income groups differ between cohorts and time periods. Including the temporal aspect in exploring the association between income and mortality also gives insight into the mechanisms behind the income-mortality relationship.

Given the close association of these factors with income, the growing disparity in mortality between educational and occupational groups in Finland implies increasing disparity in mortality by income. Moreover, little is known about the characteristics of this possibly changing association between income and mortality in the international context. The strong post-World War II educational expansion in Finland has continued since the late 1980s, coinciding with changes in economic and occupational structures. The severe recession of the early 1990s increased the unemployment rate sharply and led to cutbacks in social and unemployment benefits. Income inequality grew substantially during the period of economic growth following the recession (Statistics Finland, 2014a). These societal changes have affected not only income distribution but also the distribution of factors associated with income and mortality (e.g. low education and unemployment) among income groups. It is therefore possible that changes in the income-mortality association originate from these factors, and that their explanatory role has changed over time.

The aim in this thesis is to enhance understanding of mortality trends in income groups in Finland, and to investigate the age- and cause-of-death structure of changes in mortality in 1988-2012. The intention is to concentrate on the individual socio-demographic factors that are present in childhood and adulthood and are related to both income and mortality, and to find out how the income-mortality association has changed over time independently of these factors. Moreover, given the evidence of varying income disparity in mortality by cause of death, being particularly pronounced in alcohol-related causes, the analyses also focus on the possibly changing influence of the explanatory socio-demographic factors on income disparity in alcohol-related mortality. The study is based on nationally representative and internationally unique data, which includes individuallevel annual information on socio-demographic characteristics. The data originates from various administrative registers linked to cause-specific mortality records covering the period 1988-2012.

Given these aims, the study also contributes to monitoring progress towards the goals set in public health programmes drawn up to tackle disparities in mortality, and identifies and analyses the processes behind the increasing levels of disparity. The findings provide relevant information for those developing policies tackling the disparity and directing resources to interventions targeting groups with excess mortality.

2 INCOME DIFFERENCES IN MORTALITY – THE THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK AND EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE

2.1 SOCIOECONOMIC DETERMINANTS OF MORTALITY

Socioeconomic position is a multifaceted concept describing an individual's position in the societal structure in terms of material and social resources, including status and prestige, normally measured by education, occupation or income, or composite measure of these. It has been found that each of these indicators is negatively associated with mortality (Krieger et al., 1997; Lynch and Kaplan, 2000). Such socioeconomic disparities in mortality have been under extensive scrutiny since the seminal studies of Kitagawa and Hauser, and Townsend and colleagues' Black report describing the socioeconomic patterning of mortality and changes in this patterning over time in the contexts of the United Kingdom and the United States (Kitagawa and Hauser, 1973; Townsend and Davidson, 1982).

Observations of disparity in mortality by each of the indicators of socioeconomic position are largely consistent, but the interrelations among them are complex. This is logical given that education, occupation and income have differing and partially overlapping roles in the system producing the stratified structure of society and the individual's position in it. Stratification processes define certain goods as valuable or desirable, how these goods are allocated to various jobs, and how people end up in these jobs. The resulting uneven distribution of resources concerns not only economic assets, but also the dimensions of social, cultural, honorific and power resources (Grusky and Weisshaar, 2014). Education precedes occupation and income from a temporal perspective, reflecting cognitive resources and knowledge including health-related issues, but is also related to beneficial social networks and status. These qualities are beneficial not only in terms of health but also in attaining a favourable position in the labour market. They are not necessarily the result of education, however, as education may partially mediate or modify the effects of personal general intelligence or personality factors (Calvin et al., 2011; Chapman et al., 2010). Moreover, educational level represents the qualifications needed for attaining a certain occupational status. Occupational class emphasizes employment relations and working conditions (e.g. physical conditions and autonomy in terms of planning and carrying out tasks). Occupation is also related to status and prestige, which do not completely overlap working conditions and employment relations (Bartley, 2004). Of these three dimensions of socioeconomic position income is most directly associated with the individual's access to material resources and services, although there are also indirect non-material aspects of high income in terms of status

and freedom of choice (Lynch and Kaplan, 2000). Non-material aspects such as these are also intertwined with education and occupation.

Events and processes occurring over a person's life course determine a significant proportion of his or her income at any given time in adulthood. These processes, in turn, originate from educational and occupational choices embedded in the childhood-background context, including parental socioeconomic status and other individual characteristics and resources. Hence, socioeconomic dimensions are associated not only within but also across generations. This is reflected in the fact that parental socioeconomic background and childhood conditions are associated with income in adulthood to varying degrees in Western industrialized societies (Jäntti et al., 2006).

Each of the above-mentioned dimensions of socioeconomic position, although overlapping and interrelated, are also independently associated with health and mortality and therefore are suggested to be part of a different aetiological mechanism (Braveman et al., 2005; Geyer et al., 2006). It is necessary to understand the role of these socioeconomic dimensions in the explanatory mechanisms in studying the association between mortality and one particular dimension, namely income, and any temporal changes in the association.

2.2 EXPLANATIONS OF THE SOCIOECONOMIC GRADIENT IN MORTALITY AND HEALTH

The association of socioeconomic position with health and mortality is widely documented in Western industrialized societies, but the mechanisms linking socioeconomic position to mortality and morbidity, and the possible causation between them are debated. The pathways that appear to link each aspect of socioeconomic position to health and mortality generally involve explanatory mechanisms in the form of material, psychosocial, behavioural factors, and a life-course perspective (Bartley, 2004). Income asserts its effect on health mainly via these pathways by processes formulated in the absolute-income and relative-income hypotheses (Kawachi et al., 2010). These hypotheses and explanatory mechanisms are therefore introduced in the following sub-sections, with an emphasis on the income hypotheses that are most relevant to the particular mechanism, and the explanations that do not imply direct causality are then presented. The observed association between socioeconomic position and mortality may result from selection in that other unobserved confounding factors explain both the level of income and mortality risk, or then deteriorating health preceding death may negatively affect income. Furthermore, the processes resulting in overrepresentation of those with poor health in the lowest socioeconomic strata operate at various stages of the life-course. This section concludes with the construction of a theoretical explanatory framework accounting for the various mechanisms. The framework is used in the rest of the study to assess temporal changes in the income-mortality association in the context of Finland.

2.2.1 MECHANISMS LINKING SOCIOECONOMIC POSITION TO HEALTH

Material explanations and the absolute income hypothesis

Material explanations of the relationship between socioeconomic position and health emphasize access to material resources given that greater economic resources facilitate the purchasing of more and higher-quality goods and services, including housing, food, health care, and recreational and physical activities. These material resources give some protection against environmental risk factors and help in overcoming illness and maintaining health. Material factors tend to be emphasized when income is used as a socioeconomic measure, although its health-related advantages in these material terms diminish as the income level increases given that one can acquire neither complete resistance to disease nor immortality by such means. However, there are still disparities in material conditions across all income groups (Lynch and Kaplan, 2000). The absolute income hypothesis relies mainly on the dependence of these health-promoting aspects of consumption on the level of absolute income (Kawachi et al., 2010). On the other hand, lower income also restricts access to health damaging goods including alcohol and tobacco.

Low level of absolute income is also likely to have deleterious effects on health even if basic material conditions are fulfilled in that a low income restricts opportunities for social participation and decreases the level of control over one's life. These aspects are related more strongly to the psychosocial and behavioural mechanisms introduced in the following sections (Bartley, 2004; Marmot, 2002). Material explanations cover risk factors that are present not only in the sphere of consumption but also in production. Individuals in the lower socioeconomic strata are more highly exposed to occupational health hazards such as physically strenuous work, dangerous substances and work-related accidents (Bartley, 2004).

The neo-materialist approach emphasizes the public provision of services, unemployment benefits and housing subsidies on the general level of public health in addition to these material factors on the individual level. Such societal-level measures offset material deprivation to some extent in that individuals with a low income have access to health services and proper housing irrespective of income (Bartley, 2004; Lynch et al., 2000). The neomaterial perspective generally relates to population-level health differences between countries, but in as far as the provision and coverage of subsidies and benefits may change over time within a country, the neo-material perspective is also relevant for studying country-specific mortality trends.

The majority of studies report a non-linear association between absolute income and mortality. A decrease in age-adjusted mortality has been found in line with increasing absolute income, but only to a limited extent: there appears to be no decrease in risk among the higher-income groups despite the increase in income, resulting in a curvilinear income-mortality relationship (Backlund et al., 1996; Dowd et al., 2011; Martikainen et al., 2009; Rehkopf et al., 2008). This implies that a low level of income in particular is relevant to an increased mortality risk and thereby providing some support for the absolute hypothesis. However, there is some evidence that the shape of the association depends on the cause of death, a non-linear shape being more pronounced in accidental and violent causes (Martikainen et al., 2001); Rehkopf et al., 2008).

Material resources are emphasized when income is used as the indicator of socioeconomic position. Various definitions of income basically describe access to services and material resources, but there are conceptual and empirical differences between the measures. Individual income emphasizes personal aspects of income in terms of status, whereas household income represents the material-consumption potential of an individual. Disposable income accounting for taxation and income transfers yields more accurate information about consumption potential given the differing redistributive systems of welfare states. It should nevertheless be borne in mind that income during a particular period does not fully depict access to material resources, in that wealth accumulated in previous years from income, investments or inheritance affects real consumption potential. Given the observed positive association between wealth and health, also to some extent net of income, it seems that wealth partially modifies the income-mortality association. This is particularly pronounced in older ages as incomes drop due to retirement (Aittomäki et al., 2010; Martikainen et al., 2003; Semyonov et al., 2013).

Psychosocial explanations and the relative income hypothesis

The psychosocial environment, which includes social support, control and autonomy at work, the balance between both home and work, and efforts and rewards, is considered to be one mechanism linking socioeconomic position and health (Bartley, 2004). On the theoretical level it is linked to an individual's self-efficacy and self-esteem, as well as to feelings of inequality, grief and loneliness (Elstad, 1998; Siegrist and Marmot, 2004). It is suggested that people in a low socioeconomic position are more exposed to the negative aspects of the aforementioned factors. These factors may cause psychological stress, the adverse health effects of which constitute the aetiological basis of the psychosocial mechanism. Stress may affect the development of somatic diseases directly through the biological stress responses of the central nervous system, which happens if the stress response is triggered too often and for too long. The resulting cumulative physiological burden, the allostatic load, is linked to several health outcomes (Beckie, 2012). However, the association between socioeconomic position and allostatic load is evidently not straightforward in general, but disparity regarding the cardiovascular and metabolic components of allostatic load has been reported. On the other hand, these components are also influenced by health behaviour and not necessarily directly by psychosocial stress (Dowd et al., 2009). The other more indirect effect of psychological stress is mediated through health-damaging behaviour intended to alleviate stress, smoking and extensive alcohol consumption in particular being mentioned as ways of reacting to an adverse psychosocial environment (Elstad, 1998).

Stress reactions and a high allostatic load may be attributable to experiences of economic uncertainty and hardship. It has been found, for example. that material factors explain the association between socioeconomic position and allostatic load to a substantial extent (Robertson et al., 2015). Although this is in line with the absolute income hypothesis, it is the relative income hypothesis that tends to be identified with psychosocial mechanisms. It is implied in the latter that health is affected by the relative gap between an individual's own income and the income of some reference group, whether it be neighbours, the average population or the highest income quintile. In this case the income gap has a negative effect on health irrespective of the income level, and the effect does not have a specific limit: the larger the gap, the stronger the effect (Kawachi et al., 2010). It is suggested that this relative deprivation is linked to psychosocial aspects such as self-efficacy, self-esteem and experiences of inequality and imbalance between efforts and rewards. Disentangling these relative and absolute income hypotheses is difficult in that both are theoretically relevant and consistent with material and psychosocial mechanisms, and are difficult to identify independently in empirical terms due to evident collinearity between them (Gravelle and Sutton, 2009; Kawachi et al., 2010).

The identification of relative deprivation empirically tends to rely on indices measuring the gap between a person's own income and the income of the selected reference group. Different approaches in calculating these measures allow for comparison with those on higher or lower incomes. These relative-deprivation measures are used to predict mortality while controlling for the absolute level of a person's income. Studies utilizing such techniques generally report at least a weak individual-level association between relative deprivation and health. However, the variation in results by the chosen reference group and the fact that a relatively low income may be the result of poor health compromise the evidence obtained from these studies (Adjaye-Gbewonyo and Kawachi, 2012; Gravelle and Sutton, 2009). Given these caveats, an association between relative deprivation and health has been found on the individual level in Finland, Sweden and Norway (Åberg Yngwe et al., 2005), and with regard to mortality among men and women in Sweden, and men in Japan (Åberg Yngwe et al., 2012; Kondo et al., 2015). In the Swedish case the effect of relative deprivation turned out to be weak among the poorest, implying that the psychosocial effects of social comparison may be stronger among those not experiencing absolute financial hardship.

Not all aspects of the psychosocial environment are equally related to income: psychosocial aspects such as control and autonomy at work, for example, exert their influence through occupational position and conditions although these are often correlated with income. Social support is directly connected to marital status, living arrangements and social networks, but not necessarily to income. These aspects are relevant given the evidence identifying social isolation and living alone as a mortality risk (Koskinen et al., 2007; Pantell et al., 2013). On the other hand, economic hardship may hinder the maintenance of social networks. In general, it appears that accounting for psychosocial aspects does attenuate disparities in mortality by income to some extent. It was found among Norwegian men with no reported health problems that psychosocial factors (feelings of loneliness, dissatisfaction, unhappiness and tiredness, and marital status) explained 30-40 per cent of the relative excess mortality in the lowest income quartile, and 30 per cent in the second and third quartiles compared to the highest quartile (Skalická et al., 2009, 2015). In the Finnish context, psychological distress (depression, stress and insomnia) explained 31 per cent of the excess mortality attributable to alcohol-related causes, suicide and accidents among unemployed men, and 26 per cent among women. However, the explained proportion of excess mortality attributable to these causes in the lowest household income tertile was 16 and 14 per cent among men and women, respectively. These factors had only negligible explanatory power in disparities attributable to coronary heart disease (Talala et al., 2011).

Behavioural and cultural explanations

Low-level income, education and occupational class seem to be associated with consumption patterns and behaviour that are detrimental to health, including poor diet, lack of exercise, smoking and harmful use of alcohol. According to the psychosocial perspective people react to adverse circumstances by engaging in health-damaging behaviour via excessive alcohol consumption and smoking, for example (Bartley, 2004; Elstad, 1998). Cultural and behavioural explanations of health inequalities posit that health behaviour is embedded in the social structure of socioeconomic groups, but given the difficulty in defining culture and its characteristics with regard to socioeconomic strata, the emphasis of the cultural approach tends to be on education and the intergenerational transmission of educational level and health behaviour (Bartley, 2004). More direct behavioural explanations tend to relate health behaviour and life-style to personality characteristics. Characteristics such as external locus of control, neuroticism, low conscientiousness and negative coping styles are related to poor health and mortality (Bosma et al., 1999; Jokela et al., 2013). On the other hand, it is also possible that a low level of economic resources, and experiencing financial difficulties in particular, have a negative effect on cognitive control and therefore lead to harmful health behaviour through lowered self-regulation (Buckley et al., 2014; Mani et al., 2013). In this case the economic hardship would have independent adverse effects on health behaviour, and further exacerbate the negative effects of certain personal characteristics on health (e.g. susceptibility to substance addictions).

Generally, the proportion of excess relative disparity in mortality explained by health behaviour in the lowest income group varies in different populations and studies. For example, explanatory percentages of 27 and 20 were reported among Norwegian men and women, respectively, compared with 56 per cent among British civil servants and 23 per cent among the French employed population (Skalická et al., 2015; Stringhini et al., 2011), and according to a nationally representative survey in the US, health behaviours explained 68 per cent of the relative excess mortality of the lowest socioeconomic group in a composite measure (Nandi et al., 2014). Generally observed health-behavioural factors (smoking, in Finland. alcohol consumption, a poor diet, physical activity and high body mass index (BMI)) have been found to account for 45 and 38 per cent of the relative educational disparity in mortality among men and women, respectively (Laaksonen et al., 2008). Even though there is little evidence of an effect of health behaviour on the income-mortality association in Finland, the patterning of unhealthy behaviour by income quintiles has been reported, particularly in terms of smoking, low vegetable consumption and high BMI (Harald et al., 2008; Laaksonen et al., 2003). It must be noted, however, that accounting for these health behavioural factors may explain a large part of the level of mortality in all socioeconomic groups. Therefore also a larger proportion of the absolute mortality gap between extreme groups can be explained than in terms of relative excess mortality (Kivimäki et al., 2008; Lynch et al., 2006).

Obtaining reliable information on health behaviour on the individual level is challenging, particularly among the most economically deprived groups. This applies specifically to health-damaging behaviours such as smoking and harmful alcohol consumption. These are strong risk factors for specific causes of death including liver disease and lung cancer, which are in turn patterned by socioeconomic position (Mackenbach et al., 2015a; Mackenbach et al., 2015c). Therefore, assessing the contribution of these causes of death to the total disparity in mortality allows some inferences regarding the relevance of behavioural explanations. For example, mortality from alcohol related diseases and accidental alcohol poisoning accounted for 13 per cent of the gap in life expectancy between upper white-collar and blue-collar worker men in Finland in 2001-05 (Valkonen et al., 2009). However, smoking and

excessive alcohol consumption also affect mortality attributable to causes other than lung cancer and alcohol-attributable diseases, and concentrating on these specific causes would underestimate the burden of such behaviour on population health and disparities in mortality. For example, information on the death certificate regarding the contributory role of alcohol intoxication or alcohol-related diseases can be used to assess the burden of alcohol on mortality (e.g. Herttua et al., 2007). Furthermore, methods estimating health damage caused by smoking indirectly on the basis of lungcancer mortality in Western industrialized countries have been developed to tackle this problem (Peto et al., 1992; Preston et al., 2010). It has been reported in a Finnish study based on these methods that of the absolute educational disparity in mortality among 50-69-year-olds in 2006-10, roughly 30 per cent was attributable to smoking. In older age groups the contributions were close to 50 per cent among men and less than 10 per cent among women (Martikainen et al., 2013). However, the contribution of smoking to disparities in mortality is likely to vary in countries at different stages of the smoking epidemic. It is also evident in the Finnish case that smoking is an increasingly relevant driver of disparity among women, whereas among men the contribution among those under 70 is decreasing.

2.2.2 DIRECT AND INDIRECT SELECTION

The observed association between socioeconomic position and mortality is probably somewhat attributable to unobserved, pre-existing confounding factors that increase the propensity to belong to low socioeconomic strata, and also increase the risk of ill health or mortality. This is often referred to as the indirect selection process. The personality characteristics and intelligence introduced in the previous section, for example, are associated not only with health behaviour but also with achieving an advantageous social position. This perspective emphasizes the selective process underlying the socioeconomic gradient in health. Adjusting for these personality characteristics attenuated relative all-cause disparities in mortality by 20 per cent when a composite measure of socioeconomic position was used (Chapman et al., 2010), and by 28 and 11 per cent among men and women, respectively, when measured by income (Nabi et al., 2008). In the case of mortality attributable to cardiovascular diseases (CVD) the attenuation of the association with income was 44 per cent among men but negligible among women (Nabi et al., 2008). Personal characteristics related to intelligence (measured by IQ-tests) have also been linked to adult mortality, although childhood IQ, for example, does not explain the educational disparities in adult mortality. The IQ level in adulthood is also associated with mortality, but the causal process is unclear in that socioeconomic position and education confound and mediate the effect of general intelligence (Calvin et al., 2011; Lager et al., 2009).

Selection is considered to be direct rather than indirect if a person's socioeconomic position has decreased due to deteriorating health, or if poor health has hindered socioeconomic advancement. Direct selection is also known as "reverse-causality" (Kawachi et al., 2010). This covers also cases. for example, in which socioeconomic position decreases due to excessive consumption of alcohol and severe alcohol-related health problems occur afterwards. Reverse causality is likely to be more relevant to income than to other socioeconomic indicators in that the onset of poor health occurring after attaining educational level and occupational position seldom decreases their level. However, it seems that direct selection does not completely explain the association between income and both health and mortality because the disparities, albeit somewhat more modest, are observed in studies including only a healthy population at baseline or accounting for health at baseline (Martikainen et al., 2003; Rehkopf et al., 2008; Skalická et al., 2009). It was also found that the income-mortality disparity did not decrease substantially within 10 years of the income observation, which should occur if people selected into low income due to very poor health were to die during the ten-year period (Hofoss et al., 2013). It has also been shown in a Norwegian study among the middle-aged that although the income from work decreases drastically a few years before death, there is not a substantial drop in total income including all income sources. However, this is likely to depend on the generosity of social benefits in the welfare system in question (Elstad and Dahl, 2014).

Generally there is empirical support for both the selection and the causation hypotheses. Causation seems to play a bigger role in determining status-related disparities in health in terms of education, occupation and household income, whereas both explanations are equally relevant for measures that are closely related to the labour market, such as wages and employment (Kröger et al., 2015). The causality of the association between income and both health and mortality is thus bi-directional, and the roles of causation and selection may differ by health outcome as well as by the definition of income.

2.2.3 THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN INCOME AND MORTALITY OVER THE LIFE COURSE: AN EXPLANATORY FRAMEWORK

The causal and selective processes introduced above are not mutually exclusive, but operate in interaction with each other at different stages of a person's life. These mechanisms and other processes, both social and biological, are integrated into the life-course perspective, a framework that is commonly used in explaining socioeconomic disparities in mortality (Kuh et al., 2003). It is central to this perspective that health in adulthood can be considered as the result from paths and accumulated events and exposures over the life course, starting from prenatal and childhood conditions (Cohen

et al., 2010; Rahkonen et al., 1997). The evidence suggests that a low parental socioeconomic position is associated with increased mortality in adulthood attributable to several causes, cardiovascular disease in particular but also other causes that are closely related to behavioural risk factors (Galobardes et al., 2004, 2008; Lawlor et al., 2006).

Low socioeconomic resources in the childhood family, and therefore exposure to adverse psychosocial and physical conditions are hypothesized to affect health status and disparities in health and mortality at older ages. Adverse environmental factors are linked to a higher prevalence of psychological problems (e.g. language impairment and hyperactivity) and poor health behaviour, as well as physiological deficits (e.g. higher exposure to infection) among children in families with a low socioeconomic position (Cohen et al., 2010; Van De Mheen et al., 1998). These disadvantageous factors may have a direct effect not only on health in adulthood but also on developing personality characteristics, and on poor educational achievement leading to a low status in other aspects of socioeconomic position and thereby indirectly affecting the adult health (Van De Mheen et al., 1998). Evidence suggests that this indirect effect accounts for much of the disparity in mortality by childhood socioeconomic background (Elo et al., 2014).

These indirect effects are relevant with regard to income given that attained educational level partially mediates the effect of parental background on income in adulthood. There are a few studies exploring the effect of childhood conditions on the income-mortality association in adulthood (Claussen et al., 2003; Lynch et al., 1994; Martikainen et al., 2009). Of these, only two have quantified the attenuated excess mortality in the lowest income deciles, at less than 10 per cent, when observed childhood factors including parental socioeconomic position or growth rate in utero were accounted for (Fors et al., 2012; Martikainen et al., 2009). However, numerous childhood factors are neither observed nor accounted for in these studies. There have been a few attempts to account for various unobserved factors with regard to educational differences in mortality by comparing siblings with differing educational attainment but shared childhood factors. These studies generally report more moderate disparities in mortality between siblings than in respective cohorts (Elo et al., 2014; Næss et al., 2012; Søndergaard et al., 2012). Studies assessing the effect of these unobserved childhood characteristics shared by siblings on the disparity in mortality by income in adulthood are still lacking. Results concerning the role of childhood characteristics on adult mortality are hampered not only by challenges related to the unobserved factors but also by the long time span. Information on childhood is susceptible to recall bias, which may lead to underestimation of the effect of childhood family characteristics on disparities in mortality in adulthood.

Although the life-course perspective tends to emphasize the role of adverse exposures in childhood, disadvantages also accumulate later in life. The income-mortality association has been found to differ by age range, and the disparity is generally less pronounced after retirement (Backlund et al., 1996; Duncan et al., 2002; Fors et al., 2012; Martikainen et al., 2009; Martikainen et al., 2001b). This is attributable in part to the differing relevance of causal mechanisms during working age and after retirement, and also to selective mortality in that people with poor health in low socioeconomic groups tend to die before reaching an older age (Fors et al., 2012). Reverse causation is also less of an issue at older ages in that income increasingly derives from pensions and is therefore less dependent on functional capacity.

Income measures may include total income over the life course or during a certain period, such as one year. In this case it is a dynamic indicator, which can differ substantially between periods. Exposure to low income may therefore be brief, periodic or continuous. Short-term changes in income could be considered a product of reverse causality, or disruptive noise around the permanent income measure (Cristia 2009). They could also be indicative of the uncertain economic situation of the individual that may be associated with an increased mortality risk in the long run. The evidence suggests. however, that although changes in income, and decreases in particular, do affect health negatively to some extent, income level and persistent poverty are more relevant (Benzeval and Judge, 2001; Gunasekara et al., 2011; McDonough et al., 2005; Miething and Yngwe, 2014). Defining falls and rises in income from the overall level and separating their effects on health from the level of income is a complex and somewhat problematic process. Bævre and Kravdal (2014), for example, report increasing mortality by increasing income if the level of income is controlled, whereas at the same time the rise in income contributes to income level, which is negatively related to mortality.

The explanatory framework of the study

In the context of this study, the conditions and characteristics that are present in childhood, and personality characteristics originating in part from these conditions underlie the associations that form later in life (Figure 1). Not only do education, occupation and employment precede income temporally and, to some extent, causally, their effect on health and mortality is also intertwined with the same psychosocial and behavioural mechanisms over the life course. Observed income-mortality relationships originate in part from educational and occupational differences in psychosocial and behavioural risk factors. The income-mortality association is thus partially confounded by the health effects of education and occupation, although income also mediates their effects on health to some extent (Lahelma et al., 2004). This is evident in several studies reporting a notable attenuation of the income-mortality association following adjustment for educational level and occupational class (Elo et al., 2006; Martikainen et al., 2001b; Rognerud and Zahl, 2006). Attenuation in the effect of income has also been observed in the Nordic countries with regard to self-rated health (Fritzell et al., 2004; Huijts et al., 2010). Income partially mediates the effect of education in material terms, but it is also suggested that its effect on health is modified by education in that high levels of educational resources might compensate the adverse effects of a low income (Schnittker, 2004).

Income originates from various sources including employment, welfare benefits, pensions and capital income. Individual income is determined not only by education and occupation, but also by employment status. Unemployment and retirement are major determinants of a low income in that unemployment benefits and pensions do not generally compensate fully for the loss of labour income. Given that both benefits are generally earningsrelated, the absolute levels tend to be higher among those with a high longterm income. Employment status is somewhat dependent on functional ability, and therefore poor health, illness and disability lead to a higher probability of becoming unemployed and make re-employment more difficult (e.g. Böckerman and Ilmakunnas, 2009). In this sense labour-force participation could be considered a proxy for a poor health status, thus controlling for it in the analyses may underestimate the effect of income (Blakely et al., 2004), particularly if the propensity of exiting the labour force due to poor health is related to the causal mechanisms of low socioeconomic position influencing health. This is plausible given that the risk of disability retirement has been shown to be roughly 30-per-cent higher in the lowest than in the highest income quintile, and even more elevated among those with a low educational level and manual workers after controlling for other socio-demographic factors (Leinonen et al., 2012).

Regardless of health-based selection into unemployment and early retirement, it is also possible that unemployment has an independent negative effect on mortality risk (Clemens et al., 2015; Lundin et al., 2010; Martikainen et al., 2007b; Roelfs et al., 2011). The results of meta-regression analyses suggest a 63-per-cent higher risk of death among those experiencing unemployment following adjustment for additional covariates. Studies controlling for health behaviours have reported only a 24-per-cent lower excess mortality among the unemployed than those not doing so. Furthermore, the effect of unemployment appears to be less pronounced among women (Roelfs et al., 2011). Given that these studies may not fully control for health-based selection the direct effect of unemployment may not be substantial (e.g. Martikainen et al., 2007b). However, it is plausible to suppose that unemployment may exacerbate existing health problems. Hence, employment status may also act as a confounder by affecting both mortality risk and income.

This complex association of economic activity with income and mortality is evident on the empirical level in that adjusting for economic activity or employment status attenuates the income-mortality association substantially (Backlund et al., 1996; Martikainen et al., 2009; Martikainen et al., 2001b). In the case of New Zealand no association was observed when employment status was controlled for, and when only the employed were included in the analyses excess mortality among those with a low income was observed only during late 1990s (Blakely et al., 2004).



Figure 1 A simplified theoretical framework of the association between income and mortality

2.3 THE TEMPORAL PERSPECTIVE

Changes in the association between income and mortality

Most of the few studies focusing on general mortality trends in income groups report increasing disparities. The increase can be absolute in terms of widening gap in life expectancy or mortality rate between income groups. Relative disparity increases when the mortality rate of the lowest income group is proportionally higher than before compared to the rate of highest income group. As the general level of mortality declines the relative disparity can increase even if the absolute gap between mortality rates remains the same. In the case of New Zealand, the absolute disparity between income tertiles remained at the same level despite a decreasing mortality level among people aged between one and 74 years between 1980-84 and 2001-04. This led to an increase in relative disparity over time, although there were signs of decreasing absolute disparity among the over-45s. On the other hand, there was an increase in absolute disparity among men and women aged 25-44 due to stagnating mortality in the lowest income group (Blakely et al., 2008; Wamala et al., 2006). Similarly stagnating mortality since the mid-1990s has been reported among Swedish men aged 30-64 in the lowest individualincome quintile, whereas the mortality rates among women rose in 1990-2007. In terms of household income life expectancy has also stagnated among women on low incomes in Sweden, which together with the mortality decline in other quintiles has resulted in widening disparity in both absolute and relative terms (Hederos Eriksson et al., 2014; Kondo et al., 2014; Östergren, 2015).

Relative mortality differentials by income also increased in the United States between the 1960s and the 2000s (Cristia, 2009; Pappas et al., 1993). This occurred in all age groups, but more so among the under-65s. There was an increase in absolute disparity in 1983-2003 due to stagnating life expectancy in the lowest quintile, and an increase in other quintiles among men, whereas among women life expectancy declined in the two lowest and increased in the two highest quintiles (Cristia, 2009). In the US the association between absolute income and mortality has proved to be highly curvilinear, and grew stronger at the lower end of the income-distribution scale in 1970-1999. The proportion of the population exposed to a steep income-related mortality risk increased from nine to 32 per cent (Dowd et al., 2011).

Studies exploring both income and educational trends related to disparity in mortality report differing developments when education is used as a socioeconomic indicator (Rognerud and Zahl, 2006; Wamala et al., 2006). Some of the differences between these indicators are attributable to the differing emphasis on causal mechanisms and selection by each indicator. There are two major advantages in using income rank rather than education or occupation as a socioeconomic indicator in studies focusing on how disparity in mortality changes over time. First, the proportions of educational and occupational groups vary substantially over time due to educational expansion and structural changes in the economy, whereas indicators of income rank remain proportionally equal. Second, income allows the identification of concentrated groups experiencing material disadvantage, whereas the proportion of people with a low educational or occupational status is likely to be up to 40 per cent in most European societies.

Possible explanations of changes in the income-mortality association

Within the theoretical framework presented above the strengthening of the income-mortality association observed in these previous studies may be attributable, first, to the strengthening causal effect of income on mortality, second, to escalating selection into income groups by poor health or personal characteristics that are detrimental to health or third, to the increasing relevance of other factors associated with both income and health, such as other dimensions of socioeconomic position.

The causal effect of income may strengthen from the absolute material perspective if the purchasing power of goods and services relevant to health at the lower end of the income-distribution scale decreases or diverges a lot from other income groups. This occurs if wages in low-paid jobs or the level of social benefits lag behind the general developments in income. The latter condition is relevant in welfare states in that a substantial proportion of income in the lowest deciles originates from income transfers. Further in the context of welfare states, the decline in the provision or reach of public health and social services may weaken the material conditions of those who cannot afford to acquire market-priced services (e.g. healthcare and affordable housing). If psychosocial factors are to explain the widening mortality, exposure to adverse psychosocial effects should have become more unequal in terms of income (Mackenbach, 2012). Although psychosocial stress due to material hardship is not likely to have increased among those on a low income, it is possible that coping strategies become more detrimental to health. Increasing affordability of health damaging goods like alcohol and tobacco may also contribute to these harmful coping strategies particularly among those with a low income.

In the case of increasing selection the probability of ending up in a lowincome group would rise among those with poor health or personal characteristics that are detrimental to health (Elo, 2009). This occurs if losing a job or having to change to a lower paid job for health reasons becomes more common or, on the other hand, re-employment after a short unemployment spell is difficult due to health problems. There are several reasons for this. First, when the unemployment rate rises due to economic cycle and competition for jobs on the labour market gets tougher. Second, it may be that working life in general has become more intense and demanding in terms of health. Norwegian evidence indicates an increase in healthrelated exclusion from the labour market, which occurs to some extent irrespective of economic cycles (Wel et al., 2010). On the other hand, increasing selection also occurs if sickness benefits and pensions are cut or do not follow general developments in income. Third, it is possible that widening disparities in mortality are attributable to increasing intergenerational social mobility. As parental background decreasingly determines the socioeconomic position of offspring, those with beneficial personality characteristics with regard to education and health are more likely to move to a higher socioeconomic position. Hence, those without further education are increasingly selected by personal characteristics that not only hinder educational attainment but are also detrimental to health (Mackenbach, 2012). Fourth, selection strengthens if morbidity of diseases that severely hinder employment increases in the population irrespective of the income level. For example, evidence suggests that alcohol consumption and alcohol-related health problems tend to be more common during economic boom, partially because people have more money to spend on alcohol (Mäkelä, 1999; Ruhm and Black, 2002). Consumption and harms can increase also among those, whose real income is not increasing during the economic boom if the real price of alcohol decreases.

Finally, the income-mortality association is affected if the distribution of other socioeconomic characteristics associated with both income and health, changes between income groups, or their independent effect on mortality strengthens over time (Elo, 2009). In other words, being unemployed or having a low educational or occupational status may be more hazardous to health than previously, or the extent of the aforementioned characteristics may increase in the lowest income groups (Chen et al., 2013). The latter explanation is plausible in that the proportions of these characteristics tend to change in line with economic cycles and structural changes in the economy and education. The effect of these factors on health may also become stronger if there is further accumulation of adversities among people with these characteristics.

Studies providing evidence of increasing disparity in mortality by income, in relative or absolute sense, do not generally consider whether this occurs because of the increasing prevalence of other individual characteristics that are detrimental to health among those on low incomes. The few studies addressing this aspect give conflicting evidence of the extent to which changes in the composition of the lowest income groups explain the increasing disparity. In the case of Norway, the absolute mortality rates among middle-aged men and women remained stable in the lowest quartile from the 1970s to the 1990s but dropped in the other quartiles in the 1990s. The resulting increase in the relative disparity in mortality remained even following adjustment for education, household size and the urbanity of the area (Rognerud and Zahl, 2006). However, the strengthening relative income-mortality disparity observed in New Zealand in 1981-1999 was generally attenuated when labour-force status was controlled for, but there were signs of increasing excess mortality among the lowest income groups in the 1990s when the analysis only covered the employed population (Blakely et al., 2004).

Furthermore, given that age is also related to income and to mortality risk, population aging may have an effect on the observed disparity in mortality by income. According to Swedish evidence, increasing disparity in health by income is attributable in part to the decreasing income in an increasing proportion of the population due to retirement and deteriorating health related to old age (Islam et al., 2010). On the other hand, it is unlikely that population ageing has a profound effect on the disparity in ages before retirement.

Causes of death contributing to changes in the income-mortality association

There are also a few studies exploring the cause-of-death structure of the increasing disparity by income in the context of New Zealand and Sweden. The general decline in CVD mortality is narrowing the absolute gap between extreme income tertiles at ages 1-74 in New Zealand, whereas the decrease in mortality attributable to circulatory diseases in Sweden has been greater in the highest income group compared to the lowest. The positive development in New Zealand was offset by an increasing gap in cancers other than lung cancer among both men and women, and in lung cancer among women, in 1980-1999, but there were signs of a decreasing gap in these causes in the early 2000s. Mortality attributable to lung cancer and respiratory diseases increased among women and stagnated among men with low incomes in Sweden: this markedly widened the gap between the extreme quintiles as the respective mortality in the highest income group decreased, with the exception of lung cancer among women (Blakely et al., 2008; Fawcett and Blakely, 2007; Hederos Eriksson et al., 2014).

No other studies give information on the cause-of-death composition of trends in the income-mortality disparity. On the other hand, broadly similar results have been obtained when education was used as a socioeconomic indicator. Absolute disparities in CVD mortality by educational group decreased among men and women in North and West Europe between the 1990s and the 2000s, although this development was partially offset by increasing absolute disparities related to cancer, particularly among women. Mortality attributable to lung cancer has increased among those with a low educational level, with a slower decline in other cancers compared to those with a high education (Mackenbach et al., 2015b).

These results are somewhat in line with the hypothesis stating that increasing disparities in mortality occur because improvements in population health are increasingly dependent on behavioural change, the implication being that immaterial factors such as personality characteristics and social resources are increasingly related to health status (Mackenbach, 2012).

3 THE FINNISH CONTEXT

This study is set in post-1980s Finland. A steady and continuing decline in mortality over several decades and an ageing population serve as the backdrop to the changes in the structure of Finnish society that have occurred since the late 1980s. The distributions of the socio-demographic determinants of mortality, including education, occupation, income and employment status, have not remained static. The unemployment rate increased sharply during the recession of the early 1990s, from roughly three per cent in the late 1980s to 16-18 per cent in 1993-1996, decreased to seven per cent by 2008 and then increased slightly (Statistics Finland, 2015a). The recession partially precipitated the structural changes in the economy from manufacturing towards services. These changes have been reflected in the increase in the gini-index describing inequality in terms of disposable income: there was a rise from 20 to 28 per cent in 1988-2007, and a slight decrease to 26 per cent in 2012 (Statistics Finland, 2014a).

There has been some research on the disparity in mortality between income groups in the Finnish context. The age-adjusted relative rate of disease mortality between the extreme household-income deciles was roughly 2.7 among men and close to 2.5 among women aged 30-64 in 1991-95. The respective relative rates in accidental and violent causes were roughly four among men and three among women (Martikainen et al., 2001b). A later study focusing on the same age range reported age-adjusted all-cause hazard ratios between the extreme deciles of over three-fold among men and over two-fold among women in 1998-2004 (Martikainen et al., 2009). It is difficult to determine from these two studies whether the association has changed over time, thus a significant research gap exists in terms of understanding income differences in mortality over time both in Finland and internationally. Only one study has reported that there were no changes in the self-rated health gradient by household disposable income in 1986-1994 among people aged 25-64 (Rahkonen et al., 2002), and educational disparities in self-rated health also remained at roughly the same level in 1980-2004 (Rahkonen et al., 2009).

These observations regarding self-rated health using survey data are at odds with register linkage studies on trends in socioeconomic mortality based on education and occupational social class, which have shown increasing disparity in mortality between the socioeconomic groups since the 1970s. The gap in life expectancy between upper-white-collar and blue-collar workers widened from 1983–85 to 2003–05 by roughly one year in both sexes, ending up at six years among men and 3.4 years among women (Valkonen et al., 2009; Valkonen and Martikainen, 2006). This widening was largely attributable to a slightly slower increase in life expectancy gap between those with a high and a basic education developed in a roughly similar manner as that between the top and bottom occupational classes in 1981-2000, but widened slightly more between educational groups among men and between occupational classes among women (Valkonen and Martikainen, 2006).

In general, the total effect of both education and occupation on mortality has increased over time. However, the educational effect also seems to be decreasingly independent of occupation among the middle-aged, due in part to the more rapid strengthening of the independent effect of occupational class on mortality. Had there been no change in the distribution of education and occupational class in the total population, the disparity in mortality would have been even greater among those aged 30-49, particularly in the case of educational disparity (Martikainen et al., 2007a).

The overall gain in life expectancy originated mainly in the decreased mortality attributable to ischaemic heart disease (IHD) in all socioeconomic groups (Valkonen et al., 2009; Valkonen and Martikainen, 2006). Decreasing mortality attributable to other cardiovascular diseases and respiratory diseases also had a positive impact on life expectancy in all occupational classes in 1998-2005 (Valkonen et al., 2009). The increase in mortality differences between educational groups and occupational social classes before the 1990s stemmed largely from mortality attributable to cardiovascular disease and alcohol-related causes of death (Martikainen et al., 2001a). However, previous studies have reported a minimal contribution of IHD to the increasing disparity after the 1990s (Valkonen et al., 2009; Valkonen and Martikainen, 2006). On the other hand, trends in alcoholrelated mortality by educational groups show no signs of convergence as mortality has increased particularly among the individuals with low education since the 1980s (Herttua et al., 2007). Alcohol-related mortality has grown also in the general population between 1980 and 2005 (Kraus et al., 2015). Furthermore, the gap in life expectancy by education at age 50 is increasingly attributable to smoking related deaths among women whereas among men their contribution is decreasing (Martikainen et al., 2013). These developments suggest that alcohol-related causes of death among both sexes and smoking-related deaths among women are increasingly relevant also to the disparity in mortality by income.

4 THE AIMS OF THE STUDY

The general aim of this study was to enhance understanding of the relationship between income and mortality in the context of Finland, earlier studies not having covered possible changes in this association. The objective in this thesis was to describe and quantify mortality trends among income groups, as well as the contribution of age and cause-of-death groups to changes in reported disparity. One of the aims was to explore the role of other individual socioeconomic factors such as education, occupation and economic activity, which are closely related to income, in explaining the changing disparity in mortality. These socioeconomic factors appear to precede the association between income and mortality, and there is little evidence on the international scale of the extent to which changes in their distribution in the lowest income groups explain the increasing disparity observed in various countries. This lack of evidence regarding the change in the role of other socioeconomic factors also holds for disparity in mortality attributable to alcohol-related causes. It was therefore considered relevant also to assess whether these factors explain the disparity in mortality among income groups to a similar extent with regard to alcohol-related and other causes of death, and whether their explanatory relevance had changed over time. Although income is a relevant indicator of socioeconomic position in adulthood, it is partially dependent on processes originating from childhood. Therefore a further aim of this study was to narrow the gap in research evidence assessing to what extent disparity in mortality by income observed in adulthood is attributable to childhood-family characteristics. Previous studies have included only observed childhood characteristics whereas the present study also assesses unobserved factors shared by siblings, and their relevance among specific cause-of-death groups.

The specific aims of the study were:

- 1. to explore the trends in life expectancy at the age of 35 by income quintiles and to assess the contribution of cause-of-death and age groups to changes in life expectancy between 1988 and 2007 (sub-study I).
- 2. to determine how the relative disparity in all-cause mortality by income changed in 1988-2007 among 35-64-year-olds while accounting for socio-demographic factors such as non-employment, occupational social class, education and living alone, which are related to both income and mortality (sub-study II).
- 3. to assess whether changes in the mortality level of income quintiles are attributable to changes in the distribution of the aforementioned socio-demographic characteristics within the quintiles (sub-study II).

- 4. to investigate the extent to which observed and unobserved childhood family characteristics shared by siblings explain the disparity among income quintiles in later cause-specific mortality in adulthood (sub-study III).
- 5. to examine changes in mortality attributable to alcohol-related and other causes among income quintiles in 1988-2012, and to find out whether the explanatory roles of education, occupational social class, and economic activity in the disparity changed over time (sub-study IV).

5 MATERIALS AND METHODS

5.1 DATA SOURCES AND STUDY DESIGNS

Sub-studies I, II and IV were based on longitudinal register data containing information from various administrative registers. The data were compiled at Statistics Finland by combining information from longitudinal population and employment registers and the cause-of-death register, using personal identification codes (permission TK-53-1783-96). The data set included a representative 11-per-cent sample of the whole population residing in Finland during at least one year between 1987 and 2007. In compliance with data-protection regulations, Statistics Finland provides only crude data on the total population. Therefore, to maintain statistical power in the mortality analyses the data set was complemented with a random over-sample of the population that died during the study period, meaning that 80 per cent of all deaths in 1988-2007 were covered. Appropriate weights for individuals from the original and the additional samples were used in the analyses to account for the unequal sampling probability. Sub-study IV also included a further update of the mortality records of individuals in the 11-per-cent random sample covering the years 2008-2012 (permission TK-53-339-13).

In sub-study I individuals aged 35 and over were followed for mortality separately for each year in 1988-2007. Those who emigrated or were institutionalized were censored at the end of the year in question. Individuals were included in the follow-up in sub-study II if they were within the age range of 35-64 at the beginning of any year during the three follow-up periods of 1988-91, 1996-99 and 2004-07. They were censored when they turned 65, emigrated, or were institutionalized. Four baselines were set in sub-study IV, at the beginning of the years 1988, 1994, 2001 and 2007, and individuals aged 35-64 were followed for mortality in the six subsequent years. They were censored when they turned 65 or emigrated. Institutionalized persons were excluded from the analysis at the baseline. The last period after the baseline year of 2007 only included individuals from the 11-per-cent random sample without the oversample of deaths, unlike all the other follow-ups in sub-studies I, II and IV.

Sub-study III was based on a data set comprising a 10-per-cent sample of households drawn from the Finnish 1950 census and including 411,626 individuals in 132,862 families (14% of all families interviewed in the census) (Statistics Finland, 1997). The data included codes for each household and each family in the household, and therefore it was possible to identify all members of the same family at the time of the 1950 census, and to obtain socio-demographic information about the family conditions. Statistics Finland linked all household members in this sample to subsequent census records from 1970, 1975, 1980, 1985, 1990 and 1995, and to death records for the years 1971-2007 (permission TK-53-835-08).

Children (0-14 years of age) who belonged to a family in the 1950 census were followed for mortality from the month of their 35th birthday until death or censoring at the end of 2007 when they were 57-72 years old. Those who were not present in the census closest to their 35th birthday were excluded from the analyses: these roughly 19,000 individuals (16% of the cohort) had died or emigrated before the beginning of the mortality follow-up in 1971. Sensitivity analyses conducted by Elo and colleagues (2014) suggest that excluding these cases did not bias the main findings. Principal analyses were conducted using data on people with at least one sibling of the same sex born in 1936–50 and alive at the beginning of the mortality follow-up. In total, 27,551 men with 4,878 deaths, and 24,148 women with 1,920 deaths contributed to these analyses. A total of 116,622 children aged 0-14 were included in the census sample used for the sensitivity analyses, in which results including only siblings were compared to the general child population. Number of deaths in other sub-studies are presented in table 1.

5.2 VARIABLES

5.2.1 MEASURES OF INCOME

The main measure used in this study was household income, which provides more accurate information on the actual material resources of the study subject than individual income and also limits the problems of reverse causality and confounding (Benzeval et al., 2001; Martikainen et al., 2001b). Statistics Finland obtained the income information from the registers of the Finnish Tax Administration and Social Insurance Institution. The main income measure used in sub-studies I, II, and IV was household taxable income, consisting of the wages, capital income and taxable income transfers of all household members. Taxable income excludes some non-taxable transfers such as child benefit and certain housing allowances. Disposable household income includes these benefits and takes paid taxes into account. It is available in the data only for the period 1995-2007, and therefore was used for the sensitivity analyses. The household-income measures were adjusted for household composition in accordance with the OECD equivalence scale (OECD, 2013). Household income was divided by the sum of consumption units in the household so that the first member over the age of 17 years corresponded to one unit, all others over that age to 0.7 units, and children under the age of 18 to 0.5 units. Income was operationalized in relative terms in all the sub-studies: income quintiles were used to identify the position of an individual in the distribution. It was measured annually in sub-study I, using information from the preceding year of the mortality follow-up. The quintile cut-off points were calculated from the population aged over 35, separately for men and women. In sub-study II income was measured annually within the three study periods from the year preceding the mortality information, and the cut-off points were determined from the combined population of men and women aged 35-64. This was unproblematic in this age-group as each sex-specific quintile had at most only one percentage-point deviation from 20 per cent. In sub-study IV income was measured at each baseline year and cut-off points were determined as in sub-study II.

Personal taxable income was used in sub-study III, being the only income variable available in the data. The information originated from the census closest to the 35th birthday and was converted into euros at the 2011 value using the monetary value table of Statistics Finland (Statistics Finland, 2015b). The quintile cut-off points were calculated separately for men and women. There was no information on income for one per cent of the men and three per cent of the women.

5.2.2 SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS

The socio-demographic attributes associated with household income were education, occupational social class, economic activity and living alone. Substudies II and IV included education categorized as basic (International Standard Classification of Education ISCED-1997 codes: 0-2), intermediate (ISCED: 3-4) or high (ISCED: 5-6), whereas in sub-study III it comprised four categories: basic (9 years), lower secondary (10-11 years), upper secondary (12 years) and higher education (13+ years). Economic activity at the end of the year was classified in sub-study II into six groups: employed, unemployed, retired, on a disability pension, student and other. Living alone was indicated by a dichotomous variable. In sub-study III economic activity was categorized as employed, unemployed, retired, doing household work, other (students and institutionalized persons) and unknown. Finally, in substudy IV the main economic activity of the year was classified in four groups: employed, unemployed or granted an unemployment pension, retired and other. The five occupational social classes in sub-studies II and IV were upper-white-collar employees, lower-white-collar employees, manual workers, the self-employed and other. If there was no information on occupational social class for some year the information from previous years was used, and if no occupational social class was found then the person was classified according to the head of the household. Additional sociodemographic information was used in sub-study III: the three categories married, never married and widowed/divorced reflected marital status; household composition was categorized as a single household, a household with two or more persons and unknown; and the housing-tenure categories were home owners, renters and those in employer-provided housing.
All the aforementioned variables were measured at the baseline year in sub-study IV and in sub-study II they were measured annually except for occupational social class, which was measured at five-year intervals. Adulthood socio-demographic characteristics were measured in the same way as income in sub-study III, from the census information closest to the person's 35th birthday.

The variables measuring childhood socioeconomic status and living conditions in sub-study III were based on the 1950 Finnish Census and included parental educational level and occupational social class, housing tenure, overcrowding and region of residence. Both maternal and paternal education was assigned to one of three categories: no schooling or unknown, primary school and past primary school. Socioeconomic status for each parent was classified as professional/administrative workers. manual/agricultural workers, farmers, employers/self-employed and other/unknown. Three regions of residence were identified: the capital region, the rest of southern and western Finland, and eastern and northern Finland, Housing crowdedness was assessed in four categories in terms of the number of individuals per heated room: <2, 2–3, 3–4, 4+ and unknown. Housing tenure in childhood was categorized similarly as in adulthood.

5.2.3 CAUSE OF DEATH

Information on the date of death was obtained from the death register of Statistics Finland. Sub-studies I, III and IV included analyses of specific cause-of-death groups based on the underlying cause given in the death certificate. The classification used in the death certificates was the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) 8th revision for the years 1971-1986, the 9th revision for 1987–1995 and the 10th revision for 1996-2012. The cause-of-death groups used in the studies were constructed from Statistics Finland's 54-category cause-of-death classification (Statistics Finland, 2015c), which has been harmonized in line with changes in the ICD classification and is therefore suitable for analysis over time.

The cause of death analysis in sub-study I is based on the following 11 groups, which incorporate the most common causes and those that are strongly related to behaviour, and also cover all deaths: lung cancer (ICD-10 codes: C32-C34), breast cancer only among women (C50), other cancers (C00-C31, C37-C49, C51-C97), ischaemic heart diseases (I20-I25), cerebrovascular diseases (I60-I69), other circulatory diseases (I00-I15, I26-I28, I30-I52, I70-I99), respiratory diseases (J00-J64, J66-J99), alcohol-related diseases and accidental alcohol poisoning (F10, G312, G4051, G621, G721, I426, K292, K70, K860, K8600, O354, P043, X45), accidents and violence (V01-X44, X46-X59, X85-Y89), suicides (X60-X84, Y870) and other diseases.

The three categories used in sub-study III were cardiovascular diseases (ICD-10 codes: Ioo-I425, I427-I99), alcohol-related diseases, accidents and violence (F10, G312, G4051, G621, G721, I426, K292, K70, K860, K860, O354, P043, X45, V01-X44, X46-Y89), and all other causes of death.

Two mutually exclusive categories were used in sub-study IV: deaths in which alcohol was an underlying or contributory cause of death, and all other deaths. Death was defined as alcohol-related if the underlying cause was alcohol-related disease or accidental alcohol poisoning (ICD-10 codes: F10, G312, G4051, G621, G721, I426, K292, K70, K860, K8600, O354, P043, X45) or, if the underlying cause was not alcohol, at least one of the three contributory causes on the death certificate was alcohol-attributable disease or alcohol intoxication (ICD-10: F10.0).

Including alcohol as a contributory cause allowed for a more comprehensive analysis of the burden of alcohol on the mortality. This was particularly relevant in the age group under study comprising 35-64-yearolds, in which the proportion of deaths with alcohol as a contributory cause can be over half of the total alcohol-related mortality (Durkin et al., 2010; Herttua et al., 2007).

5.3 STATISTICAL METHODS

Life expectancy at the age of 35 was used for the description and age- and cause-specific analysis of mortality trends among the income quintiles in sub-study I. Age- and cause-of-death-specific mortality rates for the five-year age groups during each year in 1988-2007 were calculated using probability weights in order to account for the 80-per-cent oversample of deaths. The analysis was conducted in STATA 10.1 software. Once the death rates had been extracted the life expectancies at the age of 35 were calculated by income quintile and each year in 1988-2007 using five-year age groups in the abridged life tables (Shryock and Siegel, 1976). The changes in life expectancy in the highest and lowest income quintiles between the two five-year periods 1988-92 and 2003-07 were decomposed by age group and cause of death in accordance with the method presented by the United Nations Secretariat (Ponnapalli, 2005).

The absolute mortality trends in the income quintiles were described in terms of directly age-standardized mortality rates for three periods in substudy II, and for four periods in sub-study IV. The total population of 35-64year-olds during all the study periods was used as the standard population in both studies, and all the analyses were calculated using probability weights to account for the over-sample of deaths described earlier.

The relative effect of the income quintile on mortality in sub-study II was assessed using Poisson regression models for ungrouped data (Loomis et al., 2005). The models were estimated for the three study periods 1988-91, 1996-99 and 2004-07, with income as a time-varying covariate within them. The

socio-demographic covariates of education, occupation, economic activity and living alone were added to the model in this order. Changes in the association over time with regard to the declining level of mortality were studied by including interaction term of time period and the income quintile. For this analysis the data were pooled to account for the changing sociodemographic composition of the income quintiles across the periods. The interaction term was applied separately to models including only age and those also including other socio-demographic characteristics. In both cases the rate ratios were plotted using the highest income quintile during the first period as a reference category. All the analyses were conducted separately for men and women using STATA 10.1 software.

The analyses in sub-study III exploring the effect of childhood family background were based on Cox proportional hazards regression (e.g. Armitage et al., 2002). The relative disparity in mortality by income quintiles was assessed among the 35-72-year-olds with at least one same-sex sibling alive at the beginning of the follow-up. Age was used as the underlying time from baseline to censoring or death to estimate the age-adjusted hazard ratios (HR) for the income quintiles relative to the highest quintile. Then, in order to assess the association following adjustment for observed childhood and adulthood characteristics, separate models including age with observed childhood characteristics were estimated. Finally all the observed childhood and adulthood factors were included in the same model.

Analyses estimating the HRs for income quintiles accounting for the unobserved characteristics shared by siblings were conducted with fixed effects Cox models using the stratification technique suggested by Allison (2009). This corresponds to a situation in which each group of siblings is allowed to have a different baseline hazard function. Therefore only withinfamily variation was used in estimating the HRs for income, effectively controlling for all unobserved characteristics shared by the siblings. Consequently, only groups of siblings in which at least one sibling died during the follow-up period were included. The models were first estimated including only age, and were then adjusted for observed adulthood characteristics. Robust 95-per-cent confidence intervals were calculated to account for the clustering of the sibling data. Generally the models were estimated separately for men and women. Additionally among the men, however, all the models were estimated for the three cause-of-death groups, deaths attributable to causes other than the one under scrutiny being treated as censored observations at the date of death.

Discrete time survival analysis was used in sub-study IV to estimate the odds ratios (OR) of alcohol-related deaths and deaths attributable to other causes by income quintile. The models were fitted among the population aged 35-64 at baseline. Separate models were estimated for alcohol-related and other-cause mortality, for men and women, and for four six-year periods starting from the baseline years 1988, 1994, 2001 and 2007. Income quintile

was the main independent variable and all the models included age as a covariate with further adjustments for education, occupational class and economic activity. In order to obtain the proportion of how much of the excess mortality in each quintile was attenuated by each socioeconomic factor, the models were fitted within the decomposition framework proposed by Karlson, Holm and Breen (KHB), thereby allowing the simultaneous decomposition of the contribution of each control variable on the incomemortality association (Karlson et al., 2012). This is achieved by including the control variables in the model as residualized variables. These residualized variables are obtained from auxiliary regressions that regress each control variable on income, and the residuals from these models are used as independent variables in the eventual model regressing the odds of death on the income quintile. Furthermore, this approach avoids problems related to comparing nested non-linear models by scaling the coefficients similarly in the age-adjusted and full models (Allison, 1999). All the analyses in substudy IV were conducted using STATA 12.0 software.

	Sub-study I	Sub-study II	Sub-study III	Sub-study IV
Type of data	Register	Register	Register, census	Register
Target population	General population	General population	General population with siblings	General population
Age range	35+	35-64	35-72	35-64
Follow-up periods	Yearly in 1988- 2007, and 1988- 92, 2003-2007	1988-91, 1996-99, 2004-07	1971-2007	1988-93, 1994-99, 2001-06, 2007-12
Deaths per period	37,704 (yearly average)	33,375, 29,431, 29,962	6798	47,849, 43,587, 43,526, 5908
Mortality outcome	All causes, 11 cause-of-death groups	All causes	All-cause, cardiovascular, alcohol/violent/accident, other causes	Alcohol-related, other causes
Main income variable	Household taxable income	Household taxable income	Individual taxable income	Household taxable income
Covariates	-	Education, occupational class, economic activity, living alone	Education, marital status, economic activity, childhood family characteristics	Education, occupational class, economic activity
Method	Life table, life expectancy decomposition	Poisson regression, Age-adjusted mortality rate	Cox regression analysis with fixed effects estimation	Discrete time survival regression (logit) with KHB- decomposition

Table 1. The characteristics of sub-studies I-IV

6 RESULTS

6.1 TRENDS IN LIFE EXPECTANCY BY INCOME FROM 1988 TO 2007: DECOMPOSITION BY AGE AND CAUSE OF DEATH (SUB-STUDY I)

There was a clear income gradient in life expectancy at the age of 35 among both men and women at the beginning of the study period (Figure 2). The gap between the highest and lowest quintiles in 1988 was 7.4 and 3.9 years for men and women, respectively. Life expectancy increased substantially in the four highest quintiles but there was only a minimal increase in the lowest one. As a result of this developmental stagnation the gap between the highest and the lowest quintiles widened by 5.1 years among men and 2.9 years among women over the study period: in 2007 it stood at 12.5 and 6.8 years among men and women, respectively. The mortality trend in the lowest and second-lowest quintiles also differed, the gap between them widening from 3.2 to 6.2 years among men, and from 1.4 to 3.9 years among women.

The decomposition analyses assessed the change in life expectancy among the highest and lowest income quintiles between the periods 1988–1992 and 2003–2007. Figure 3 depicts the contribution of the 10-year age groups to the change in life expectancy and the change in the gap between the extreme quintiles. Among men the gain in life expectancy was 1.24 years in the lowest and 4.51 in the highest income quintiles. The decreasing mortality among men aged over 65 increased life expectancy in the lowest and highest quintiles by 1.12 and 2.64 years, respectively. Among the under-65s the increase was 1.87 years in the highest quintile, but only 0.12 years in the lowest, partly because of an increase in mortality among the 45-54-year-olds. The increase in the gap between the lowest and the highest income quintiles was 3.27 years, 54 per cent of which was among those aged 35-64.

Life expectancy among women aged 35 increased by 1.12 and 3.26 years in the lowest and highest quintiles, respectively (Figure 4). The increase originated largely from the over-65s in both income groups, 1.73 years in the lowest and 2.47 years in the highest. Among those aged 35-64, on the other hand, mortality increased in the lowest quintile thereby decreasing life expectancy by 0.62 years: these age groups accounted for 66 per cent of the 2.14 years by which the gap between the income quintiles widened.

The increase in life expectancy in both the highest and the lowest income groups and among both men and women was driven by the decrease in mortality attributable to ischaemic heart disease (Figure 4, note the different scales). This positive contribution originated largely from those aged 65+, with the exception of men in the lowest quintile among whom the positive contribution was rather similar in both age groups. Furthermore, there was an identical decrease in IHD mortality in the highest and the lowest quintiles among men aged 35-64. Increasing alcohol-related mortality in both sexes in the lowest income group decreased life expectancy by 1.04 years among men and 0.56 years among women: almost all of this decrease was attributable to the age group comprising 35-64-year-olds. Increasing mortality attributable to lung cancer and other cancers in the younger age group further reduced life expectancy by 0.17 years among women in the lowest income quintile.



Figure 2 Life expectancy among men and women aged 35 by income quintile in 1988-2007



Figure 3 The contributions of 10-year age groups to changes in life expectancy at the age of 35 from 1988-92 to 2003-07 by income quintile, men and women



Figure 4 The contributions of selected causes of death and age groups to the change in life expectancy of 35-year-olds between 1988-92 and 2003-07 in the lowest and highest income quintiles, men and women

6.2 THE CHANGING RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INCOME AND MORTALITY IN FINLAND, 1988-2007 (SUB-STUDY II)

The composition of the income quintiles in terms of other socio-demographic characteristics changed between 1988 and 2007. The proportion of those with a basic education decreased steadily in every quintile whereas the percentage of manual workers decreased slightly in all except the lowest fifth, in which it remained on roughly the same level. The proportion of unemployed people increased sharply in the bottom quintiles between 1988-91 and 1996-1999 during the severe recession of the early 1990s, and then lowered slightly towards 2004-07. The percentage of people outside the labour force was initially high in the lowest quintile, at 40 and 52 per cent among men and women, respectively but decreased in 1996-99 and then rose again among men. The proportions remained rather stable or decreased towards 2007 in the other income groups. There was a general increase in living alone across all income groups, but this was particularly strong among men in the lowest quintile.

		Men					Wome	en			
	Income	Basic	Manual	Un-	Out	Living	Basic	Manual	Un-	Out	Living
Period	quintile	edu.	workers	empl.	LF	alone	edu.	workers	empl.	LF	alone
1988-	Highest	31	26	1	6	15	35	15	1	9	14
1991	4th	47	50	2	11	10	49	30	2	12	14
	3rd	53	57	3	17	7	54	37	3	19	12
	2nd	59	59	5	27	7	58	42	4	32	9
	Lowest	66	50	9	40	18	67	44	5	52	19
1996-	Highest	22	25	3	9	18	23	12	4	10	15
1999	4th	35	46	6	14	13	33	24	7	13	17
	3rd	39	53	10	21	9	37	30	10	20	14
	2nd	44	55	17	27	11	41	35	15	29	11
	Lowest	50	50	31	32	28	46	36	24	39	22
2004-	Highest	15	22	2	7	21	13	10	3	10	18
2007	4th	24	46	4	10	18	20	21	4	11	18
	3rd	28	52	6	15	13	23	27	6	15	13
	2nd	32	55	11	23	12	27	33	10	25	22
	Lowest	40	51	24	37	36	35	37	20	40	26

Table 2.	Proportions of key demographic characteristics by income quintile, 35-64-year-
	old men and women in 1988-2007

Abbreviations: Edu: Education; Unempl: Unemployed; Out LF: Outside the labour force

Results

Mortality among both men and women aged 35-64 decreased steadily in the four highest income quintiles, whereas in the lowest it decreased slightly between the first and second periods but then increased towards the last period (Tables 3 & 4). This led to an increasing disparity in age-adjusted mortality across the study periods in all quintiles relative to the highest one, but specifically in the lowest in which the RR increased from 2.80 to 5.16 and 2.17 to 4.23 among men and women, respectively. The excess mortality attenuated substantially following adjustment for education, occupation, economic activity (which caused most of the attenuation), and living alone. However, despite the adjustments the relative disparity in the lowest income fifth increased from 1.32 to 1.73 and 1.13 to 1.66 among men and women, respectively. Statistically significant excess mortality following these adjustments also appeared in quintiles 2-4 during 2004-07.

Table 3.
 Mortality rates and rate ratios of all-cause mortality for income quintiles adjusted for age, education, socioeconomic status, economic activity and living alone: Finland in 1988-1991, 1996-1999 and 2004-2007, men aged 35-64

Men								
			Model 1 (M 1):		M 2:	M 3:	M 4:	
	Income	Mortality	Age +		M1+Edu	M2+	M3+	
Period	quintile	rate ^a	Income	95% CI	+ Ses	Eco	Alone	95% CI
1988-	Highest	49.9	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00	
1991	4th	63.4	1.28	1.22-1.35	1.15	1.00	1.04	0.99-1.10
	3rd	74.3	1.51	1.43-1.58	1.32	0.99	1.05	0.99-1.10
	2nd	92.2	1.88	1.79-1.97	1.64	1.06	1.11	1.05-1.17
	Lowest	139.4	2.80	2.68-2.93	2.48	1.40	1.32	1.26-1.40
1996-	Highest	35.3	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00	
1999	4th	46.3	1.34	1.26-1.41	1.15	0.97	1.02	0.97-1.08
	3rd	58.0	1.68	1.59-1.77	1.39	0.99	1.05	0.99-1.12
	2nd	74.7	2.17	2.06-2.28	1.77	1.12	1.15	1.09-1.22
	Lowest	126.6	3.73	3.55-3.91	3.15	1.70	1.51	1.43-1.60
2004-	Highest	26.0	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00	
2007	4th	33.7	1.32	1.24-1.40	1.16	1.03	1.07	1.01-1.14
	3rd	46.5	1.83	1.73-1.94	1.56	1.15	1.22	1.15-1.29
	2nd	62.9	2.47	2.34-2.61	2.08	1.26	1.29	1.22-1.37
	Lowest	131.6	5.16	4.91-5.41	4.36	2.02	1.73	1.63-1.83

^a Mortality rates per 10,000 person years adjusted for age using the population in 1988-2007 as the standard

Abbreviations - Edu: Education, Ses: Occupational social class, Eco: Economic activity, Alone: Living alone, CI: Confidence interval

 Table 4.
 Mortality rates and rate ratios of all-cause mortality for income quintiles adjusted for age, education, socioeconomic status, economic activity and living alone: Finland in 1988-1991, 1996-1999 and 2004-2007, women aged 35-64

			Model 1	(M 1):	M 2:	M 3:	M 4:	
	Income	Mortality	Age +		M1+Edu	M2+	M3+	
Period	quintile	rate ^a	Income	95% CI	+ Ses	Eco	Alone	95% CI
1988-	Highest	21.6	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00	
1991	4th	24.3	1.12	1.03-1.21	1.09	0.97	0.96	0.89-1.04
	3rd	28.9	1.35	1.25-1.46	1.30	1.02	1.01	0.93-1.09
	2nd	35.0	1.62	1.51-1.75	1.54	1.04	1.02	0.94-1.11
	Lowest	48.1	2.17	2.02-2.32	2.03	1.21	1.13	1.05-1.23
1996-	Highest	17.5	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00	
1999	4th	19.4	1.12	1.03-1.21	1.06	0.96	0.95	0.87-1.03
	3rd	22.4	1.32	1.22-1.43	1.22	0.95	0.94	0.86-1.02
	2nd	29.2	1.71	1.59-1.85	1.57	1.04	1.02	0.94-1.10
	Lowest	47.2	2.75	2.56-2.95	2.52	1.41	1.29	1.18-1.40
2004-	Highest	12.8	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00	
2007	4th	15.8	1.23	1.13-1.34	1.18	1.10	1.08	0.99-1.18
	3rd	19.9	1.58	1.46-1.72	1.48	1.21	1.18	1.08-1.28
	2nd	28.0	2.22	2.06-2.40	2.04	1.34	1.29	1.19-1.41
	Lowest	53.8	4.23	3.94-4.55	3.81	1.86	1.66	1.52-1.81
aMarta	lity rates	ar 10 000			d for one .			adia a la

Women

^a Mortality rates per 10,000 person years adjusted for age using the population in 1988-2007 as the standard

Abbreviations - Edu: Education, Ses: Occupational social class, Eco: Economic activity, Alone: Living alone, CI: Confidence interval

Figure 5 plots the interaction between income and the study period (p<0.05), and shows the changes in the level of mortality in relation to the mortality of the highest quintile in 1988-91. The solid lines depicting ageadjusted mortality indicate increasing curvilinearity, as the mortality in lowest quintile stagnates among men and increases among women. Following adjustment for the socio-demographic characteristics, mortality stagnated among men and increased among women in the lowest quintile between the last two periods. Hence, the development in mortality is similar to that in the age-adjusted models, although most of the disparity is attenuated. Furthermore, there was a decrease in the middle quintiles between 1988-91 and 1996-99 but not towards the last period, unlike in the age-adjusted models. In fact, mortality would have increased among women in second and third quintiles had the socio-demographic composition remained the same between the last two periods.



Figure 5 Relative mortality in the income quintiles by time periods, adjusted for age and all explanatory variables (highest quintile in 1988-91 as the reference category), men and women aged 35-64

6.3 CHILDHOOD FAMILY BACKGROUND AND MORTALITY DIFFERENCES BY INCOME IN ADULTHOOD (SUB-STUDY III)

A clear gradient in mortality in 1971-2007 by individual income quintile at the age 35 was observed among persons who had at least one sibling of the same sex alive at the age 35. The disparity was more pronounced among men in that the absolute age-adjusted mortality rate varied from 113 (per 10,000 person years) to 40 between the lowest and highest quintiles, whereas among women the respective rates were 35 and 21. When Cox proportional hazards regression models were fitted the relative disparity in terms of age-adjusted hazard ratios was 2.88 and 1.55 among men and women, respectively (Table 5). The association remained unchanged when observed childhood characteristics including parental education and social class, homeownership status and crowdedness, and region of residence were accounted for. Adjusting for observed adulthood characteristics marital status, economic activity, education, household composition and home ownership substantially attenuated the excess mortality in the lowest quintiles. Despite the adjustments a statistically significant excess mortality of 57 and 36 per cent among men women, respectively remained, and further controlling for observed childhood characteristics did not notably change this disparity.

 Table 5.
 Hazard ratios for all-cause mortality in 1971-2007: men and women aged 35-72 with at least one brother or sister alive during the follow-up

	Cox r	egression			Fixed effects Cox regression					
Income	Mode	I 1 (M1)	M 2	М З	Mode	4	Mode	el 5	Mode	16
quintile	HR	95% CI	HR	HR	HR	95% CI	HR	95% CI	HR	95% CI
Men										
Highest	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00		1.00		1.00	
4th	1.21	1.09-1.35	1.17	1.01	1.00	0.90-1.13	1.11	0.94-1.31	1.03	0.87-1.22
3rd	1.37	1.23-1.52	1.30	1.03	1.03	0.92-1.16	1.28	1.09-1.51	1.10	0.92-1.31
2nd	1.70	1.54-1.88	1.62	1.18	1.19	1.06-1.33	1.49	1.26-1.76	1.21	1.01-1.44
Lowest	2.88	2.62-3.17	2.80	1.57	1.58	1.41-1.78	2.64	2.24-3.11	1.66	1.38-2.00
Women										
Highest	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00		1.00		1.00	
4th	1.13	0.96-1.34	1.13	1.09	1.09	0.92-1.30	1.07	0.84-1.37	1.11	0.85-1.44
3rd	1.20	1.02-1.41	1.20	1.10	1.12	0.94-1.34	1.08	0.85-1.38	1.13	0.87-1.48
2nd	1.25	1.06-1.46	1.26	1.13	1.16	0.97-1.38	1.28	1.01-1.63	1.29	0.99-1.69
Lowest	1.55	1.33-1.81	1.58	1.36	1.41	1.16-1.70	1.62	1.27-2.06	1.42	1.06-1.91

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HR, hazard ratio

Model 1: Income, age

Model 2: Model 1 + childhood characteristics: parental education and social class,

crowdedness, home ownership, region

Model 3: Model 1 + adulthood characteristics: marital status, economic activity, education, household composition, home ownership

Model 4: Model 1 + all observed childhood and adulthood characteristics

Model 5: Same variables as in model 1. Fixed effects model

Model 6: Same variables as in model 3. Fixed effects model

Fixed-effects Cox models were fitted allowing families to have their own baseline hazard. This approach adjusts for all unobserved characteristics shared by siblings in effectively comparing only siblings with differing income quintiles within families. These analyses also revealed a clear ageadjusted mortality gradient among men, the lowest quintile having a HR of 2.64 compared to highest quintile. Among women the HR was 1.62. Adjusting for characteristics observed in adulthood attenuated the disparity particularly among men, but the excess mortality of the lowest quintile remained at 1.66 and 1.42 among men and women, respectively.

The cause-of-death-specific analysis was conducted only for men due to the low number of deaths among women. It indicates the presence of the ageadjusted mortality gradient in each cause-of-death group, the HR of the lowest quintile ranging from 2.45 for other causes to 3.31 for cardiovascular diseases. Controlling for observed childhood characteristics attenuated the association in each cause-of-death group very little, whereas adding the adulthood characteristics to the model attenuated the excess mortality by roughly 70 per cent in the lowest quintile. The excess mortality remained in the case of CVD and other causes, and ranged between 24 and 71 per cent in the two lowest quintiles. With regard to mortality attributable to alcohol, violence and accidental causes the excess of 56 per cent remained in the lowest quintile.

	Cox regression							Fixed effects Cox regression			
Incomo	Mada		MO	MO	Mode		Mod		Mod		
income	ivioue				IVIOUE	14	IVIOUE	Niodel 5			
quintile	HR	95% CI	HR	HR	HR	95% CI	HR	95% CI	HR	95% CI	
Cardiov	ascula	ar diseases	s (1694	4 deat	:hs)						
Highest	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00		1.00		1.00		
4th	1.37	1.12-1.67	1.30	1.06	1.05	0.86-1.30	1.09	0.81-1.46	0.98	0.73-1.32	
3rd	1.65	1.37-1.98	1.53	1.13	1.12	0.91-1.38	1.27	0.95-1.69	1.08	0.80-1.46	
2nd	2.07	1.73-2.48	1.93	1.31	1.31	1.07-1.60	1.54	1.14-2.07	1.24	0.91-1.69	
Lowest	3.31	2.79-3.93	3.10	1.71	1.71	1.39-2.10	2.27	1.71-3.03	1.38	1.00-1.90	
Alcohol	relate	d, violent a	and ac	cider	ntal ca	uses (1511	death	s)			
Highest	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00		1.00		1.00		
4th	1.12	0.92-1.36	1.07	0.92	0.92	0.74-1.13	1.10	0.83-1.45	1.03	0.77-1.38	
3rd	1.26	1.04-1.53	1.19	0.95	0.94	0.76-1.16	1.29	0.97-1.71	1.09	0.81-1.46	
2nd	1.52	1.27-1.82	1.44	1.04	1.04	0.85-1.27	1.36	1.03-1.80	1.08	0.80-1.47	
Lowest	3.02	2.56-3.57	2.92	1.55	1.56	1.27-1.92	2.77	2.12-3.63	1.73	1.27-2.34	
All othe	r caus	es (1658 d	eaths)							
Highest	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00		1.00		1.00		
4th	1.18	0.98-1.41	1.16	1.04	1.05	0.87-1.27	1.14	0.85-1.52	1.09	0.81-1.47	
3rd	1.26	1.06-1.51	1.24	1.04	1.05	0.87-1.28	1.30	0.98-1.73	1.17	0.86-1.59	
2nd	1.58	1.34-1.87	1.55	1.22	1.24	1.02-1.50	1.56	1.17-2.07	1.32	0.97-1.80	
Lowest	2.45	2.09-2.87	2.46	1.47	1.51	1.24-1.83	2.91	2.18-3.89	1.92	1.37-2.69	

Table 6.	Hazard ratios for cause-specific mortality in 1971-2007, men aged 35-72 with at
	least one brother alive during the follow-up

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HR, hazard ratio

Model 1: Income, age

Model 2: Model 1 + childhood characteristics: parental education and social class,

crowdedness, home ownership, region

Model 3: Model 1 + adulthood characteristics: marital status, economic activity, education, household composition, home ownership

Model 4: Model 1 + all observed childhood and adulthood characteristics

Model 5: Same variables as in model 1. Fixed effects model

Model 6: Same variables as in model 3. Fixed effects model

In the fixed-effects setting, the age-adjusted mortality gradient was clear in all cause-of-death groups. Following adjustment for unobserved shared childhood characteristics and observed socio-demographic factors in adulthood in model 6, the excess mortality in the lowest quintile remained statistically significant with HRs of 1.73 for alcohol, violence & accidental causes and 1.92 for other causes, whereas in the case of CVD the HR of 1.38 was bordering on being significant at the 95-per-cent level.

6.4 THE CONTRIBUTION OF EDUCATION, SOCIAL CLASS AND ECONOMIC ACTIVITY TO THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN INCOME AND ALCOHOL-RELATED MORTALITY (SUB-STUDY IV)

The alcohol-related mortality of men aged 35-64 decreased slightly between 1988-93 and 2007-12 in the highest quintiles, and remained at roughly the same level in the middle quintiles. There was a drastic increase in mortality in the lowest income fifth, from 37 (per 10,000 person years) to 62 (Figure 6, note the different scales for men and women). The increase in alcohol-related mortality among women with a low income was almost threefold when comparing the first and the last study period, the rate rising from five to 14. At the same time, there were signs of a small increase in the middle quintiles and of a decline in the highest. The age-adjusted mortality to other than alcohol-related causes declined steadily in 1988-2012 in all quintiles among men, and among women in all except the lowest, in which it declined between 1988-93 and 1994-99 but then stagnated.



Figure 6 Age-adjusted mortality attributable to alcohol-related and other causes (per 10,000 person years) by income quintile in 1988-2012, men and women aged 35-64

This development led to an increase in the proportion of alcohol-related mortality of total mortality in every quintile, and the absolute gap relative to the highest quintile also consisted increasingly of alcohol-related mortality. Both of these aspects were especially evident in the lowest quintile, in which the proportion of the gap originating from alcohol-related causes increased from 28 to 49 per cent among men and from 11 to 28 per cent among women. The absolute mortality gap in other than alcohol-related causes decreased in all quintiles among men, whereas among women it decreased minimally or remained the same in quintiles other than the lowest, in which it increased substantially.

Odds ratios of age-adjusted alcohol-related mortality and attenuation percentages by income quintile among 35-64 year olds in 1988-93, 1994-99, 2001-06, 2007-12; with the highest income quintile as the reference group, men and women.

Men			Women							
		Atter	uatior	n % ª		Attenuation % ^a				
Period	OR (95% CI)	Edu	Occ	Eco	Tot	OR (95% CI)	Edu	Occ	Eco	Tot
4th quir	ntile					4th quintile				
1988	1.18 (1.08-1.29)	21	100	29	151	0.97 (0.80-1.19)				
1994	1.22 (1.12-1.34)	28	58	65	151	1.13 (0.93-1.39)				
2001	1.28 (1.18-1.40)	13	47	34	93	1.23 (1.01-1.49)	29	22	23	75
2007 ^b	1.27 (0.99-1.62)	12	78	26	117	1.65 (0.95-2.87)				
3rd qui	ntile					3rd quintile				
1988	1.32 (1.21-1.44)	17	74	39	131	1.06 (0.87-1.30)				
1994	1.51 (1.38-1.65)	19	36	66	121	1.17 (0.96-1.43)				
2001	1.37 (1.25-1.50)	14	46	65	124	1.45 (1.20-1.75)	24	14	40	77
2007 ^b	1.60 (1.26-2.03)	8	47	35	90	2.21 (1.30-3.75)	12	-4	13	21
2nd qui	ntile					2nd quintile				
1988	1.63 (1.50-1.77)	12	42	39	93	1.31 (1.08-1.60)	55	13	78	146
1994	1.99 (1.83-2.17)	13	22	62	97	1.68 (1.39-2.03)	28	4	77	108
2001	1.91 (1.75-2.07)	8	23	58	89	2.04 (1.71-2.44)	15	6	48	69
2007 ^b	2.26 (1.81-2.82)	6	30	38	75	2.15 (1.26-3.68)	16	-7	32	40
1st quir	ntile (lowest)					1st quintile (lowest)				
1988	2.78 (2.57-3.00)	6	13	31	51	2.13 (1.77-2.55)	23	-4	50	69
1994	3.84 (3.55-4.15)	8	8	46	61	3.22 (2.70-3.83)	15	-2	56	68
2001	5.20 (4.82-5.60)	4	7	51	62	5.42 (4.61-6.36)	9	-1	45	53
2007 ^b	6.47 (5.30-7.90)	4	13	41	57	7.98 (4.96-12.84)	8	-6	31	32

^a The figures show the proportions by which the coefficient is attenuated when explanatory variables are included in the model. Percentages are reported only for coefficients with 95% confidence intervals not overlapping 1.00 in the age-adjusted model, and the models in bold type have significant excess mortality (p<0.05) after adjustment. (Coefficients not shown.) ^b The period 2007-2012 includes only an 11% sample of the population without the 80% oversample of deaths

Abbreviations: Edu: education, Occ: occupational class, Eco: economic activity, Tot: total

Table 7.

There were signs of a decrease in the relevance of education, occupation and economic activity as characteristics explaining the excess alcohol-related mortality towards the last period in the second and third quintiles among men, although the excess mortality did not remain statistically significant after these adjustments during any of the periods. Accounting for these factors attenuated the excess mortality in the lowest quintile by roughly 50-60 per cent during each period. Economic activity was the main factor explaining the excess mortality in general, and particularly in the lowest quintile in which education and occupation had minor explanatory roles.

Table 8.
 Odds ratios of age-adjusted mortality attributable to other than alcohol-related causes, and attenuation percentages by income quintile among 35-64 year olds in 1988-93, 1994-99, 2001-06, 2007-12; with the highest income quintile as the reference group, men and women.

Men						Women					
		Attenu	uation	% ^a		Attenuation % ^a					
Period	OR (95% CI)	Edu	Occ	Eco	Tot	OR (95% CI)	Edu	Occ	Eco	Tot	
4th qui	ntile					4th quintile					
1988	1.09 (1.04-1.15)	46	42	57	144	1.04 (0.97-1.11)					
1994	1.22 (1.16-1.29)	18	34	39	91	1.15 (1.08-1.23)	16	6	26	48	
2001	1.18 (1.12-1.25)	23	30	34	88	1.09 (1.02-1.17)	10	22	37	68	
2007 ^b	1.15 (1.00-1.33)	32	36	30	98	1.25 (1.03-1.51)	11	-8	11	14	
3rd qui	ntile					3rd quintile					
1988	1.20 (1.14-1.26)	31	28	62	122	1.16 (1.09-1.24)	25	0	61	86	
1994	1.37 (1.30-1.44)	16	29	48	92	1.20 (1.12-1.28)	17	6	55	78	
2001	1.35 (1.28-1.43)	18	21	43	81	1.24 (1.16-1.33)	5	12	40	57	
2007 ^b	1.31 (1.14-1.51)	21	23	40	84	1.18 (0.97-1.42)	22	-14	45	53	
2nd qu	intile					2nd quintile					
1988	1.41 (1.34-1.48)	20	17	55	92	1.20 (1.13-1.28)	24	3	95	122	
1994	1.66 (1.58-1.74)	11	20	44	75	1.38 (1.29-1.48)	11	3	54	67	
2001	1.66 (1.57-1.75)	13	13	44	70	1.43 (1.33-1.53)	4	7	53	65	
2007 ^b	1.63 (1.42-1.87)	15	15	41	71	1.51 (1.26-1.82)	11	-6	39	44	
1st qui	ntile (lowest)					1st quintile (lowe	est)				
1988	1.91 (1.82-1.99)	12	9	43	64	1.59 (1.50-1.69)	11	3	62	76	
1994	2.33 (2.22-2.45)	8	10	36	55	1.91 (1.79-2.03)	7	0	42	48	
2001	2.78 (2.64-2.92)	8	5	42	56	2.27 (2.12-2.42)	3	3	45	51	
2007 ^b	2.88 (2.54-3.26)	9	7	45	61	2.58 (2.18-3.06)	7	-2	43	47	

^a The figures show the proportion by which the coefficient is attenuated when explanatory variables are included in the model. Percentages are reported only for coefficients with 95% confidence intervals not overlapping 1.00 in the age-adjusted model, and models in bold type have significant excess mortality (p<0.05) after adjustment. (Coefficients not shown.) ^b The period 2007-2012 includes only an 11% sample of the population without the 80% oversample of deaths

Abbreviations: Edu: education, Occ: occupational class, Eco: economic activity, Tot: total

Education and occupational class attenuated the association in the higher quintiles, but education and economic activity had generally decreasing relevance across periods in the middle quintiles. The findings were rather similar among women, but occupational class had little relevance in explaining the excess mortality in any quintile, and the attenuation after controlling for education and economic activity also declined in the lowest quintile.

In the case of other than alcohol-related causes the adjusted socioeconomic factors explained income disparity to a decreasing degree in the second and third quintiles. The adjusted factors attenuated the excess mortality rather similarly during each period in the lowest quintile, the percentages varying between 55 and 64 among men. With regard to women, 76 per cent of the excess mortality was attenuated by these factors during 1988-93, but the proportion remained at roughly 50 per cent during the subsequent periods.

7 DISCUSSION

7.1 A SUMMARY OF THE MAIN FINDINGS

Life expectancy among the four highest income quintiles increased substantially over the study period of 1988-2007. However, the stagnation of mortality among men in the lowest quintile and a very slow and minor increase among women caused the disparity with other quintiles to increase markedly. In 2007 the gap in life expectancy between the extreme quintiles stood at 12.5 and 6.8 years among men and women, respectively. This widening disparity originated slightly more from the 35-64-year-olds than from older groups, mainly on account of the increasing mortality among women and the stagnating mortality among men in this age group in the lowest quintile. In ages 35-64 mortality relative to the highest quintile increased between 1988-91 and 2004-07 in all the other quintiles even following adjustment for the individual socio-demographic characteristics of education, occupational class, economic activity and living alone. Likewise, accounting for the changes in the composition of the lowest income quintile by these socio-demographic measures did not explain the increasing mortality level towards 2004-07 among men or women.

The disparity in mortality between individual income quintiles among those aged 35-72 also persisted following adjustment for observed and unobserved factors of childhood family conditions shared by siblings. The adulthood socio-demographic characteristics were considerably more relevant explanatory factors than childhood characteristics, but the disparity remained even after controlling for both. This observation was consistent over three cause-of-death groups: cardiovascular diseases, alcohol/violent/accidental causes, and other causes.

Alcohol-related causes of death (alcohol-related diseases and accidental alcohol poisoning) were the main drivers of the adverse mortality development in the lowest quintile. Disparities in cancer mortality among women and in ischaemic heart disease among men over the age of 65 also increased the gap in life expectancy between the extreme income quintiles in 1988-2007. The increasing significance of alcohol-related mortality in the disparity was evident during the period from 1988 to 2012 when deaths with alcohol as a contributory cause were also included. This occurred because of minimal changes in alcohol-related mortality in quintiles other than the lowest one, in which it increased substantially. Education, occupation and, in the main, economic activity explained 50-60 per cent of the excess alcohol-related mortality in the lowest quintile among men despite the increasing mortality level. Among women the proportion explained by these factors declined over the study period, from roughly 70 to 30 per cent.

7.2 MORTALITY TRENDS IN INCOME GROUPS

The association between income rank and mortality has generally strengthened in Finland over the previous decades, in both absolute and relative terms, which is in line with observations from other Western industrialized countries including Sweden, Norway, New Zealand and the US (Blakely et al., 2008; Dowd et al., 2011; Hederos Eriksson et al., 2014; Rognerud and Zahl. 2006). The increasing disparity has been observed not only in relative but also in absolute terms in Norway and Sweden. This phenomenon has also been characterized elsewhere by a slower decline in mortality, or even stagnation, in the lowest income groups, an adverse development that has been particularly prominent in the working-aged population (Blakely et al., 2008; Cristia, 2009). However, the results of this study show that gains in life expectancy above retirement age are also greater in the highest than in the lowest income quintile, despite the weaker association between income and mortality after retirement (Martikainen et al., 2001b). On the other hand, given that the mortality level of the lowest income quintile increased despite accounting for the changing age structure of the population aged 35-64 between 1988 and 2007, it could be assumed that the strengthening association between income and mortality is not attributable to population aging.

The disparity in mortality between income groups tends to be more pronounced than educational and occupational disparities (Duncan et al., 2002; Geyer et al., 2006). It also seems that analyses of the trends in life expectancy among income quintiles give a significantly different picture of increasing socioeconomic disparities than among educational or occupational groups. The life expectancy of manual workers and those with a basic education in Finland shows an increasing trend, thus the gap from the higher categories has widened only moderately by these measures (Valkonen et al., 2009).

7.2.1 SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHIC FACTORS EXPLAINING THE DISPARITY IN MORTALITY BY INCOME

A substantial proportion of the observed association between income quintile and mortality was attributable to the other dimensions of socioeconomic position, and particularly employment status in the working-aged population. The attenuation due to controlling for these individual characteristics in this study is in line with that in numerous previous studies (e.g. Backlund et al., 1996; Martikainen et al., 2009; Martikainen et al., 2001b).

Despite the attenuation however, the measured individual sociodemographic characteristics did not fully explain the increase in relative disparity by income. Moreover, the increasing level or stagnation of mortality among those with a low income persisted after accounting for these characteristics despite non-employment becoming more prevalent in the lowest quintile. However, the decrease in the level of mortality in the middle and second-lowest quintiles was largely attributable to socio-demographic characteristics between 1996-99 and 2003-07. In other words, mortality in the middle quintiles would have stagnated (or increased among women) had the composition of the other socio-demographic factors remained constant over time.

In terms of explaining the changes in disparity by income over time, it seems from the few existing studies that the role of these characteristics has varied by country. In Norway, for example, the strengthening incomemortality association in 1970-97 persisted following adjustment for education, household size and urbanity level in the area of residence (Rognerud and Zahl, 2006). This Norwegian study did not account for employment status, whereas controlling for it explained the increasing relative disparities in mortality by income in New Zealand from the late 1980s until the late 1990s. However, some indications of a strengthening association were observed when the analysis was restricted to the employed population while adjusting for marital status and other aspects of socioeconomic status (Blakely et al., 2004).

The generally improved educational level was reflected in the declining proportion of those with basic educational attainment in all income quintiles. It has been suggested that educational expansion may affect the time trends of health inequalities (e.g. Chen et al., 2013). However, attenuation following adjustment for both education and occupational class did not increase, whereas economic activity accounted for a substantial proportion of the excess mortality. The increasing disparity was also evident in the pooled analysis accounting for distributional changes. Therefore the results of the current study do not support this hypothesis in the Finnish context. Despite the somewhat minor role of education in explaining the disparity in mortality by income, the previous evidence from the US suggests that income increasingly mediates the effect of education on health (Lynch, 2006). This study did not focus on the possible changes in the mediating role of income but future research should assess this topic.

Causal explanations of changes in the income-mortality association

The observations reported in this study provide some evidence that factors related to income independent of other socio-demographic characteristics are of increasing relevance to mortality. Therefore, being on a low income may have increasingly harmful effects on health. The concentration of the excess mortality in the lowest quintile in particular lends support for the increasing relevance of the absolute income hypothesis. If the causal explanation is plausible with regard to the stagnating mortality in the lowest income quintile, the income development of those at the lower end of the income distribution should be adverse or modest. The median disposable household income per consumption unit in the lowest deciles has increased very little in Finland compared to general developments in income, and the slight increase since 2000 almost disappears when housing expenses are taken into account (Statistics Finland, 2016a, 2016b).

A large proportion of those in the lowest income quintile are dependent on income transfers. The Nordic welfare model aims to provide an adequate level of economic resources via largely state-funded universal social benefits. It has been found in international comparisons that this model effectively reduces long- and short-term poverty rates (Fouarge and Layte, 2005). However, Finnish welfare-state structures have changed since the late 1980s. The minimum level of social benefits has not followed general developments in income: real disposable income after housing costs among households dependent on social support (excluding those on pensions) decreased or remained the same between 1990 and 2010. The minimum benefit level is not considered to provide minimum needed economic resources, and in 2010 it was estimated to cover roughly two thirds of the adequate minimum level in single-person households (Moisio, 2011). Over time this development may have amplified the harmful effects of being on a low income in terms of material deprivation, and also from the perspective of relative deprivation.

The role of selection and confounding in explaining changes in the income-mortality association

Income is generally more prone to health-based selection than education and occupation. Given that this study concentrated on the over-35s, many of the selection processes during the early part of the life course have already occurred in that education and occupation are usually settled. It may be that these selection processes, whether direct or indirect, strengthened during the study period. Employment status, as noted earlier, is somewhat of a proxy for poor health. Controlling for it adjusts for selection to some extent, but may also be an over adjustment if non-employment occurred due to poor health caused by having a low income. It is evident that a large part of the increase in mortality in the lowest quintile originated from the non-employed population. Whether this was attributable to the causal effect of non-employment, selection or confounding is unclear. Norwegian evidence indicates that health-based exclusion from the labour market has increased in general (Wel et al., 2010). It is uncertain whether this has also occurred in Finland.

The proportion of the non-employed increased in the lowest quintile after the late 1980s, mainly due to increasing unemployment but also because of a peak in the incidence of disability retirement in the early 1990s (Leinonen et al., 2011). Pre-existing poor health is an obvious factor with regard to disability retirement, but in terms of unemployment the process is less clear. Unemployment is a risk factor for mortality, but the excess mortality among the unemployed is partly due to selection and confounding (Clemens et al., Although becoming unemployed during the severe recession in 2015). Finland was likely to be less selective by poor health, re-employment was probably selective by health particularly when the unemployment level decreased after the recession (Martikainen and Valkonen, 1996). Despite the declining number of long-term unemployed after 1993, however, the effects of the unemployment peak of the early 1990s were long-lasting, and longterm unemployment never returned to the low pre-recession level (Ministry of Employment and the Economy, 2015). It was found in a follow-up study extending to 2008 that over half of the roughly 500,000 people who were unemployed at the end of 1993 never returned to employment. The employment rate among such people reached 48 per cent in 2000, and remained at that level while the rest remained unemployed or on an unemployment pension (14%), retired (26%), emigrated or died (10%) (Myrskylä, 2010). The duration of unemployment was strongly associated with mortality among the unemployed in 2001-07 in Finland, which was 2.5 times higher among those who had been unemployed for two years or more than among those experiencing unemployment lasting less than a year (Pensola et al., 2012). Although part of this effect was attributable to healthselective re-employment, Swedish and Danish studies accounting for some of the health selection into unemployment report a rising mortality risk by prolonged unemployment (Garcy and Vågerö, 2012; Osler et al., 2003). It is plausible to suggest that the emergence of long-term unemployment, which was virtually non-existent before the recession, laid the foundation for the diverging mortality trends in the income quintiles.

Furthermore, the increasing proportion of non-employed individuals in the lowest quintile may be related to the increasing proportion of single households. The percentage of the population living in single-person households increased from 13 to 20, and of single households among all households from 31 to 42, in 1989-2013. The increase is especially evident among men under 70 years of age (Kauppinen et al., 2014). Given the increasing proportion of people living alone, non-employment is more likely to lead to low household income than before because the income of other household members does not buffer the loss of labour income. If nonemployment occurs due to poor health, this development strengthens the direct selection process behind income-mortality association. However, the fact that adjusting for economic activity and living alone did not fully account for the increasing relative disparity in mortality or the stagnation of the mortality level in the lowest quintile in this study, is an indication that direct selection is not the only factor leading to an increase in excess mortality in the lowest quintile. In other words, the mortality of those in the lowest quintile who are healthy enough to be employed has not declined to the same extent as in other quintiles.

Strengthening indirect selection in terms of personality characteristics has also been introduced as a probable explanation for the widening disparity

in mortality by income. Characteristics such as external locus of control, neuroticism and low conscientiousness that increase the ill-health risk may have become more concentrated in the lowest socioeconomic strata. This has increased possibly resulted from the opportunities for upward intergenerational mobility among social those with personality characteristics that are favourable to educational attainment (Mackenbach, 2012). In the case of Finland, parental income has decreasingly determined the income of offspring, particularly after the Second World War, due to educational expansion and structural change in the economy. The intergenerationality of income level clearly decreased among cohorts born between 1930 and 1950. However, among cohorts born in 1950-1970 intergenerationality of income has remained stable or even increased (Pekkala and Lucas, 2007). It is therefore unclear whether or not the current mortality trends result from the concentration of personality characteristics in the lowest income quintiles due to increasing social mobility. Personality factors were not measured in this study, and were adjusted for in the analyses only to the extent that they would correlate with education. occupation, economic activity and living alone. It cannot be ruled out that the remaining increase in excess mortality in the lowest quintile is attributable to the increasing concentration of these unobserved factors in the lowest income groups. However this is unlikely to be an exhaustive explanation given previous findings that personality characteristics explain less than 30 per cent of the general income-mortality association among men, and roughly 10 per cent among women (Nabi et al., 2008).

7.3 CHILDHOOD FAMILY CONDITIONS AS AN EXPLANATORY FACTOR OF DISPARITY IN MORTALITY BY INCOME

The hazard ratios among those with siblings in 1971-2007 by individual income quintile at the age of 35 showed a gradient, the lowest quintile having an age-adjusted all-cause excess mortality of 188 and 55 per cent among men and women, respectively. Accounting for observed childhood characteristics did not notably attenuate the excess mortality, but adjusting for socio-demographic characteristics observed at the age of 35 did so in the lowest quintiles by roughly 70 and 30-40 per cent among men and women, respectively. The small explanatory role of childhood characteristics shared by siblings is in line with previous studies in the Nordic countries reporting attenuation of less than 10 per cent of the income-mortality association in populations aged 30-60 following adjustment for various observed measures of childhood socioeconomic conditions (Claussen et al., 2003; Fors et al., 2012; Lynch et al., 1994; Martikainen et al., 2009). These studies included only a limited number of characteristics observed in childhood, and it is thus unclear whether or not accounting for characteristics shared by siblings but

left unobserved would change the relevance of childhood characteristics to disparity in mortality at older ages. However, as the analysis in this thesis has shown, accounting for unobserved shared childhood-family characteristics among siblings did not remove the disparity in adulthood. Given the more robust evidence than in previous studies, the implication is that childhood socioeconomic conditions shared by siblings do not explain the disparity in mortality by income in adulthood despite the evidence that exposure to low socioeconomic conditions in childhood predicts higher mortality in adulthood. This conclusion holds not only for all-cause mortality but also among men from causes that have been identified as specifically pronounced among those with a low socioeconomic background in childhood, namely CVD and alcohol-related, violent and accidental causes (Lawlor et al., 2006; Pensola and Martikainen, 2003). However, the observed excess age-adjusted mortality in the lowest income quintiles attributable to CVD within siblings was somewhat more modest than in the general population. Previous studies exploring the role of childhood socioeconomic conditions in adulthood disparity in mortality by income have concentrated on the under-60s among whom chronic causes of death, and specifically CVD, are less dominant. The present analysis shows that, despite including people aged up to 72 and thus substantial contribution of chronic causes of death, shared childhood conditions offer little explanation for the disparity in mortality by income.

The excess mortality in the lowest quintiles remained even following adjustment for adulthood socio-demographic characteristics despite substantial attenuation. Evidence suggests that adulthood characteristics such as education mediate the effect of childhood conditions on mortality in adulthood to some extent (Elo et al., 2014). However, given that the initial adjustment for observed and unobserved shared characteristics had a negligible effect on the association it is more likely that these adulthood characteristics explain both income and mortality independently of shared childhood conditions. In addition, following adjustment for adulthood factors neither the observed nor unobserved shared childhood conditions attenuated the excess mortality significantly. These results suggest that, in general, the health effects of income are mainly associated with events and characteristics occurring in adulthood and personal characteristics not shared by siblings.

The relevance of adulthood characteristics strengthens the possibility of an income-mortality association deriving from selection into low income on account of poor health. However, analyses including only the employed population at the baseline yielded similar results as the initial models. These sensitivity analyses among a population healthy enough to be employed at the age of 35 indicate that the association persists when health-related selection into low income is at least partly accounted for. On the other hand, despite adjustment for unobserved childhood family characteristics shared by siblings, there are still childhood and early-adulthood characteristics they do not share (e.g. peer groups, childhood illnesses and personality characteristics). It is likely that such characteristics are associated with adulthood socio-demographic factors, hence they were partially accounted for in this analysis, but some of the remaining effect of income on mortality is also attributable to these factors.

Previous studies assessing the explanatory role of unobserved shared childhood conditions in educational disparities in mortality report somewhat more modest disparity by education within siblings than in the general population (Elo et al., 2014; Næss et al., 2012; Søndergaard et al., 2012). Accounting for unobserved shared childhood characteristics has attenuated educational disparities particularly in mortality attributable to causes incorporating major behavioural risk factors such as alcohol-related mortality and lung cancer. The results of this study are broadly consistent with these observations regarding CVD, although the wide confidence intervals in the estimated fixed-effects models hinder inferences concerning the proportion of excess mortality attenuated by adjusting for unobserved characteristics. The minor explanatory relevance of unobserved shared childhood characteristics to the disparity in mortality by income may be attributable in part to the stronger role of health-related selection by income than by education.

The minor effect of shared childhood characteristics on the disparity in adulthood mortality is consistent with the high level of social and income mobility in Finland. Intergenerationality in terms of income level clearly weakened among the cohorts included in this study, born between 1930 and 1950, and therefore exposure to low income in both childhood and adulthood is decreasingly prevalent (Pekkala and Lucas, 2007). Despite the relatively high mobility, however, the odds of ending up in the lowest income quintile at the ages of 29 to 32 in 2003-07 were over fourfold among those whose parents had belonged to the lowest quintile compared to those with parents in the highest quintile (Sirniö et al., 2013). It is possible that the role of childhood conditions in explaining disparity in mortality by income is changing over time, although this could not be assessed in the present study.

7.4 THE CAUSE-OF-DEATH COMPOSITION OF CHANGES IN THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN INCOME AND MORTALITY

Differences in mortality attributable to cardiovascular diseases have made a major contribution to mortality trends by education, occupation and income in Finland and elsewhere in Western industrialized countries in previous decades (Blakely et al., 2008; Fawcett and Blakely, 2007; Valkonen and Martikainen, 2006). Moreover, not only has the steady decrease in mortality related to cardiovascular causes continued in Finland, it is also occurring more equally across occupational and educational groups during 1990-2005 than earlier (Valkonen et al., 2009; Valkonen and Martikainen, 2006). The

results of this study highlight the fact that a substantial proportion of the increasing mortality gap by income among men aged over 65 still originates from changes in mortality attributable to IHD and other circulatory diseases. It has also been suggested that cancer is overtaking CVD as the main driver of the income-mortality disparity (Fawcett and Blakely, 2007). The results of this study give some support to this claim with regard to women, but not so much among men. Swedish evidence also emphasizes the increasing relevance of lung cancer and respiratory diseases, both largely attributable to smoking, in the stagnation of life expectancy among women in the lowest income quintile (Hederos Eriksson et al., 2014). Lung cancer and respiratory causes contributed only modestly to the increasing disparity among women in the current study, but recent studies emphasize the increasing contribution of smoking-attributable causes to the widening gap in life expectancy by income and education in Finland. This increase derives from the increasing mortality attributable to smoking in the lowest income quintile among women, and the slower decline among men than in higher quintiles (Martikainen et al., 2013, 2014).

7.4.1 ALCOHOL-RELATED CAUSES OF DEATH

The most drastic results of this study concern the role of alcohol-related causes in the disparity in mortality. Such causes have previously been identified as an important factor in the increasing disparity by education and occupation in Finland (Valkonen et al., 2009; Valkonen and Martikainen, 2006). The strengthening relevance of alcohol-related health problems to educational disparity in mortality has also been reported elsewhere, especially in Eastern and Northern European countries (Mackenbach et al., 2015a). However, the sub-study I of this thesis was the first study to report a substantial increase in disparity in mortality by income due to alcohol-related causes in Finland.

The results of the current study could be interpreted in the context of the secular upward trend in alcohol-related mortality in Finland (Kraus et al., 2015). Increasing disparity was observed in mortality with alcohol as an underlying cause as well as a contributory or underlying cause. However, most of the increase in alcohol-related mortality originates from chronic diseases such as liver cirrhosis, which may take up to 20 years of excessive drinking to develop (Skog, 1980). Therefore, drinking patterns established well before the study period affected the mortality trends substantially. The higher prevalence of binge drinking in cohorts born during and after the Second World War compared to earlier cohorts, together with the maturing of these cohorts to an age at which most alcohol-related deaths occur, may explain some of the increase (Härkönen and Mäkelä, 2011; Kraus et al., 2015). This may also be reflected in the rising alcohol-related mortality in the years following retirement among men (Statistics Finland, 2014b). For these

reasons the processes leading to death related to alcohol are having an increasing effect on socioeconomic disparities in mortality in general. This is evident in the results of the current study showing that all-cause mortality in 35-64-year-olds is increasingly attributable to alcohol-related causes as other-cause mortality is decreasing.

The upward trend in alcohol-related mortality is associated with the rising total consumption of alcohol per capita that has occurred over several decades in Finland (Kraus et al., 2015). The changes in total consumption over time, in turn, are related to affordability and availability. The improved affordability originated mainly from the increase in real incomes until 2004. and the decrease in incomes during the recession of the early 1990s was therefore also reflected in the drop in total consumption in 1990-93. The substantial cuts in excise taxes on alcohol and the abolishing of travellers' import quotas in 2004 made alcohol more affordable and increased consumption irrespective of real income development (Karlsson and Österberg, 2009). From short-term perspective the tax cuts resulted in an increase in alcohol-related mortality particularly among the non-employed and those on low incomes, affecting the trends observed in this study as well (Herttua et al., 2008). A later study showed that in longer-term perspective after the tax cuts alcohol-related hospitalizations increased also among men who were employed (Herttua et al., 2015a). The current results reaching year 2012 show that the trend of increasing alcohol-related mortality is continuing in the lowest quintile despite the alcohol tax hikes in 2008-09, and the decline in general alcohol-related mortality among men and its stagnation among women after 2008 (National Institute for Health and Welfare, 2014; Statistics Finland, 2014b).

Wider disparity by income group has been previously noted in mortality attributable to alcohol-related causes than in all-cause mortality. On the other hand, a proportionally roughly equal part of the disparity in both cases is attributed to the explanatory factors education, social class, economic activity and family structure (Martikainen et al., 2001b). Despite the increasing level of alcohol-related mortality among those on low incomes however, no increase in the explanatory role of education, occupation and economic activity was observed in this study, and it was rather the opposite among women. The implication is that processes other than those connected to the general socioeconomic factors measured here also drive the increase in alcohol-related mortality in the lowest income quintile, and that alcoholrelated harm is more prevalent than previously throughout the lower levels of income distribution. However, given that controlling for economic activity may be an over-adjustment to some extent, the relevance of income level to alcohol-related mortality may be more pronounced than observed here. Although accounting for economic activity did not completely explain the widening disparity, a large proportion of the increase in alcohol-related mortality originated from the non-employed population. In terms of employment status the selective path from severe drinking problems to nonemployment is plausible. Becoming non-employed prior to death has been shown to be somewhat more common in alcohol-related than in other-cause mortality: of those who died from alcohol-related causes between the ages of 45 and 64, 40 per cent were still employed five years before their death, whereas the figure for other causes was 50 per cent (Paljärvi et al., 2014). On the other hand, it is possible that the increasing mortality attributable to alcohol-related causes among the non-employed is one indication of a developing trend in which non-employment exacerbates existing alcohol abuse: the increasing mortality to alcohol related causes was particularly evident among the long-term unemployed and the pensioned population in 2001-05 (Herttua et al., 2008).

Although the attenuation of relative excess mortality in the lowest quintile remained at 50-60 per cent among men and decreased among women, it is likely that greater proportion of the absolute gap would be explained by these socio-demographic factors (e.g. Kivimäki et al., 2008; Lynch et al., 2006). This occurs mainly because adjustments, economic activity in the main, explain also the level of mortality throughout the income quintiles and therefore the absolute gaps may narrow substantially. However, unreported sensitivity analysis showed increasing absolute mortality rates to alcoholrelated causes also among the employed in the lowest quintile. Further research assessing the predicted level of mortality by income while accounting for socio-demographic factors would be needed.

7.4.2 EXPLANATIONS OF THE STRENGTHENING ASSOCIATION BETWEEN INCOME AND ALCOHOL-RELATED MORTALITY

There are several possible reasons why alcohol-related mortality has increased in the lowest relative to the highest income quintile, also to some extent irrespective of education, occupation and economic activity. The shift of the cause-of-death structure in the income-mortality disparity towards alcohol-related causes could be interpreted in terms of the increasing relevance of the behavioural mechanisms behind the income-mortality association. The observed increasing relevance of causes of death with a substantial behavioural component is emphasized in findings on smokingand alcohol-related mortality. If alcohol- and smoking-attributable deaths had been excluded, the gap in life expectancy between the extreme quintiles would have remained at roughly the same level among women, and would have increased only moderately among men in 1988-2007 (Martikainen et al., 2014). This highlights the possible increasing prevalence of personality characteristics elevating susceptibility to these health behaviours among those with a low income (Mackenbach, 2012). However, as discussed previously with regard to the relatively low proportion of disparity explained by personality characteristics in all-cause mortality, this explanation is not likely to be exhaustive. On the other hand, increasing affordability and

consumption of alcohol in Finland has led to more alcohol-related health problems, both somatic and mental, also in the employed population (Herttua et al., 2015a). As such development is likely to lead to lower income among those affected, the process contributes to increasing relevance of selection in the income-mortality association.

However, as controlling for economic activity did not completely explain the increase in excess mortality in the lowest quintile, it is difficult to determine whether or not individuals in Finland with drinking problems are now more likely to end up with lower incomes before their death, while still remaining employed. One indication of this would be if income trajectories before death have changed given that alcohol-related causes are increasingly contributing to the disparity in mortality among those of working age. It is left for future studies to explore whether this has happened in countries reporting increasing disparities in mortality by income.

Instead of selection, it is also plausible that people at the lower end of the income-distribution are increasingly burdened with adverse life-events that were not measured in this study. Furthermore, such events are likely to be cumulative and in combination with economic difficulties may exacerbate existing susceptibility to mental disorders such as alcohol dependence and abuse, which are deeply intertwined with alcohol-related mortality (Roerecke and Rehm, 2013). The life-course perspective and accumulated adversities are relevant in interpreting these results. However, the current findings regarding the modest explanatory power of observed and unobserved shared childhood-family characteristics in the disparities in alcohol-related, violent and accidental mortality suggest that events in adult life are more closely associated with the income-mortality association.

The increasing relevance of behavioural causes to the disparity in mortality could also be interpreted in terms of the psychosocial effects of a low income - not necessarily in the direct sense given the difficulty in determining whether or not exposure to psychosocial stress among those with a low income has increased in the long run. However, consuming increasing amounts of alcohol for extended periods to cope with psychosocial stress is decreasingly restricted by low income in Finland as alcohol has become more affordable. Therefore increasing affordability of alcohol can also be interpreted as contributing to the causal path from low income to mortality.

Although cohort changes in the prevalence of binge drinking may partially explain the increasing trend in alcohol-related mortality, it does not explain its strengthening association with income unless changes in drinking habits are strongly patterned by income level. This would be in accordance with evidence suggesting that harmful alcohol-consumption patterns are more prevalent among those in the lower socioeconomic strata (Härkönen and Mäkelä, 2011). On the other hand, it has also been suggested that among individuals exhibiting similar drinking behaviour, those with fewer socioeconomic resources are more vulnerable to the harmful effects of alcohol (Mäkelä and Paljärvi, 2008). The excess alcohol-related harm in the lowest socioeconomic groups may be attributable in part to the accumulation of various chronic health problems and other health-damaging factors not measured in this study, such as overweight and smoking. Why this vulnerability would have increased specifically related to income is nevertheless unclear. For example, BMI level has increased only slightly among those with only basic education in 1997-2012 in Finland (Männistö et al., 2015).

7.5 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

7.5.1 REGISTER DATA

The register data used in the study provides several advantages with regard to studying disparity in mortality and how it changes. The data does not suffer from non-response and attrition, and includes socially excluded groups that do not participate in surveys. Therefore underestimation of the mortality level of these deprived population segments is avoided, particularly with regard to alcohol-related causes of death where non-response bias may be substantial (Harald et al., 2007; Jousilahti et al., 2005). The income data originated from the Finnish Tax Administration and Social Insurance Institution, hence the measurement is reliable and more accurate than selfreported income measures, which are somewhat prone to misreporting and recall bias.

Information on causes of death originated from the Finnish Cause of Death Register, which is recognised internationally as being of high quality (Lahti and Penttilä, 2001). By including not only the underlying cause of death but also information on the contributory causes of death on the death certificate, the data allows assessing the burden of alcohol related causes to mortality disparity to wider extent than majority of international studies. A new ICD-10 cause-of-death classification was introduced in Finland in 1996. but this does not affect the results, which are based on the Statistics Finland classification harmonized for changes in ICD classifications over time. A minor effect of the new classification, restricted specifically to the year 1996, has been previously shown in terms of underreporting alcohol as a contributory cause of death (Herttua et al., 2007). Furthermore, the causeof-death analyses of mortality trends do not suffer unduly from the changes in methods of determining cause of death over time, there being no notable changes in the period 1988-2012 among the population aged 35-64: roughly 40 per cent of deaths were coded following a clinical examination by a medical doctor, and 60 per cent by autopsy. Because most of the increasing alcohol-related mortality originated from deaths with alcohol as an underlying cause (usually requiring long periods of excessive alcohol consumption), the increasing trend does not occur because alcohol would have been increasingly mentioned as one of the three contributory causes in the death certificate.

Study designs involving data from events occurring decades apart are particularly challenging with regard to data reliability, and recall bias is a potentially significant source of error in retrospective data measuring childhood-family characteristics. The combination of census and register data used in sub-study III helped to minimize the effect of these error sources on the results.

There are also downsides in using data from administrative registers. Information on factors related to health behaviour, health status and various measures of personality characteristics are not directly included, for example. As a result it was difficult to identify the effect of various selective processes, both direct and indirect, in this study. On the other hand, register data made it possible to assess the selection mechanisms by using sibling design. Due to register data confidentiality regulations complete information on all deaths could not be obtained for the study period. Including an oversample of 80 per cent of deaths occurring in 1988-2007 made it possible to conduct robust analyses by several causes of death and socioeconomic groups despite the fact that death below retirement age is a relatively rare event. However, as the oversample did not cover the years 2008-2012, the corresponding results should be interpreted with caution because of the greater random variation due to the lower number of cases than in the preceding years.

7.5.2 INCOME MEASUREMENT

How the income measure is defined has repercussions on the results. The relationship between mortality and income is dependent to some extent on the definition of this measure (Benzeval et al., 2001; Martikainen et al., 2009). Household income adjusted for household composition was the main measure used in this study as it reflects the real consumption potential of the individual and is less prone to reverse causation than individual income.

The measure of disposable household income, which includes tax-free benefits and excludes paid taxes, yields a somewhat weaker association with mortality than individual or taxable household income (Martikainen et al., 2009). As expected, sensitivity analyses conducted in sub-studies I, II, and IV using the disposable-income measure showed somewhat weaker associations with mortality, but the results regarding the diverging mortality trends and the explanatory role of the controlled factors were not substantially affected. The difference in the association implies that those receiving tax-free benefits also have higher mortality. The greatest proportion of tax-free benefits available for 35-64-year-old population consists of the child benefits while housing allowances and income support form also substantial part of total tax-free benefits paid. As the two latter benefits are means tested, their receivers are mostly in the lowest quintile. Receiving income support is unlikely to result in other income quintile than the lowest but regarding housing allowance this is possible. However, as this allowance is directed for those with low income but high housing costs their disposable income after housing costs is unlikely to differ from those in the lowest quintile. Therefore drawing inferences from the difference of these income measures should be careful in the absence of disposable income measure accounting for housing costs.

Individual income as used in sub-study III is likely to be more strongly affected by reverse causation than household income, and does not necessarily reflect the real economic resources available to some specific groups such as women doing household work. Sensitivity analyses including only employed women provided similar results after adjustment, although the age-adjusted disparities were smaller. Furthermore, the chosen measure of income in adulthood may affect the strength of the association between income and mortality, but is unlikely to substantially affect the contribution of shared childhood characteristics to that association.

In this study income was measured in the year preceding the mortality follow-up. Incomes fluctuate over the years, especially among those of working age, and it is therefore often proposed that average income across several years be the preferred measure as it is less riddled with random variation and reflects economic resources more accurately. However, this fluctuation is less of an issue in analyses of mortality trends if the pattern of fluctuation does not change substantially over time. Furthermore, the use of income quintiles in this study restricted the effects of fluctuation to some extent in that changes in income within the income categories did not affect the income measure. Moreover, the initial analyses and the sensitivity analyses conducted in sub-studies I and II using income measures from three years before the mortality follow-up yielded similar results. Additionally, given that the objective of the study was to extend the observation period to cover the earliest mortality information available in the data, namely to 1988, averaging incomes across several years would have meant postponing the beginning of the mortality follow-up. Further, the measurement of income rank used in sub-study III was constructed at the baseline age of 35. This decreased the role of reverse causality in that poor health preceding death did not affect the income of a substantial proportion of the population, and the low income did not generally derive from studying at that age. However, it is likely that income changed several times during the subsequent followup of 22-37 years, and did not precisely indicate real exposure to low income during the follow-up - thereby introducing some downward bias into the estimates. It was probably for these reasons that the observed mortality gradient was more moderate in sub-study III despite the use of individual income as the income measure.

Income may not fully reflect access to economic resources in that wealth may buffer the effects of a low income. No adjustments were made for wealth in the analyses given the lack of relevant information covering a sufficient time span. Those with a low taxable income may include some people with substantial wealth, but it is likely that such people have fewer accumulated adversities and therefore also a lower risk of death. However, this is unlikely to affect the findings, particularly concerning the lowest income quintile, and the presence of such an effect would make the current estimates rather conservative. Furthermore, household income cannot be defined for those who do not belong to a household (i.e. institutionalized and homeless persons). Excluding these individuals with a high mortality risk and a low income from the analyses is likely to have only minor repercussions on the results, but also produces more conservative estimates of the disparity in mortality.

The operationalizing of income measures in studies also has repercussions on interpretations of the results. Relative rank in the income distribution stresses the psychosocial aspects of income inequality, whereas absolute income measures consumption potential more directly as well as the material dimension of disparity (Åberg Yngwe et al., 2005). In any case, these measures are highly correlated, and the choice between rank and absolute measures is less problematic in studying mortality trends given that the intention is not to disentangle the absolute and relative effects of income on mortality. Finally, in terms of temporal changes in disparity, income as a socioeconomic indicator may be particularly sensitive to period effects, partly because changes in health-related harm deriving from alcohol consumption, the level of unemployment and the level of social benefits affect the level of income more than educational level and occupational status. Thus, period changes in socioeconomic disparities in mortality may go unnoticed if trend analyses concentrate on education and occupational class.

7.5.3 STATISTICAL METHODS

Life expectancy calculated from life table is a measure of age-adjusted mortality, which is relatively easy to understand intuitively. However, certain assumptions are easily misunderstood. Calculating life expectancy at the age of 35 for each income quintile during a specific year indicates how many years a person aged 35 would live, on average, if he or she were to remain in the same quintile and the mortality in the age groups in that quintile did not change. Given that mortality does not, in fact, remain unchanged, and that people are unlikely to remain in the same quintile throughout life, life expectancy should be seen as describing mortality during a certain year and not as a projection. On the other hand, life expectancy calculated for educational groups does not suffer to same extent from individuals moving between categories, although because of educational inflation the meaning of

having a secondary education, for example, differs between cohorts. When comparing life expectancies and age-adjusted mortality rates, it should also be remembered that deaths at young ages will be emphasized more in life expectancy than in mortality rate.

Study design of sub-study III is based on comparisons of siblings within families, and therefore the population from which inferences are drawn is the population with siblings of the same sex. However, the distributions of the independent variables among all children aged 0-14 in 1950 and those with siblings of the same sex were almost identical. Moreover, the differences in the associations of these variables with all-cause mortality were small when Cox regression models 1-4, including all children, were fitted. Hence, the restriction of the analyses to those with siblings alive at the age 35 is not likely to have affected these results.

Certain other restrictions should be kept in mind when fixed-effects models are used to adjust for unobserved shared childhood characteristics when estimating the income-mortality association. Only siblings discordant in terms of income contribute to these analyses, and those differing in terms of income level may also differ from total population in other respects as well. It has been shown, that the restriction to discordant siblings may bias the estimates of the sibling comparison because the restriction might emphasize the effect of unobserved confounders not shared by the siblings (Frisell et al., 2012). In other words, while this design adjusts for unobserved shared factors it may also introduce other sources of confounding compared to individual-level analysis. Therefore the inferences concerning the magnitude of attenuation should be careful. On the other hand, further analysis showed that the distributions of income and economic activity among these discordant siblings and all siblings were not different, only the proportion of those with a basic education was slightly (3-8 percentage points) higher among the discordant siblings. In addition, regular Cox models were fitted only for siblings who were discordant in terms of income. This sensitivity analysis yielded largely similar results as models 1-4, with only slightly lower HRs in the lowest quintile.

KHB-decomposition was used in the sub-study IV to assess the extent to which adjusted variables attenuate the income-mortality association. Using the KHB method in comparing nested non-linear models the problems related to the rescaling of coefficients between models are avoided (Allison, 1999; Karlson et al., 2012). Some caveats regarding the KHB decomposition should be kept in mind when drawing inferences from the attenuation percentages. It is not currently possible to calculate the confidence intervals of these percentages using bootstrapping or jackknife resampling. However, the main findings concerning the percentages are consistent across periods and are therefore not likely to occur due to randomness. The attenuation percentages were also calculated from the change in coefficients, when the control variables were introduced one by one into the regular discrete time survival model. This sensitivity analysis yielded results largely similar to the initial KHB analyses. Only occupational class had slightly less explanatory value.

The fact that mortality in the lowest quintile, unlike in the other quintiles, did not decrease may imply that income rank has an increasingly curvilinear association with mortality over time. This could have methodological repercussions on measuring disparity trends in mortality using relative and slope indices of inequality, as their use requires the ranking variable to have a linear association with mortality (Regidor, 2004). Strengthening the nonlinearity of the association may therefore cause an underestimation of the disparity when these measures are used without estimators relaxing the linearity assumption.

7.6 IMPLICATIONS FOR POLICY

The goals set for tackling socioeconomic disparities in mortality in the WHO Health21 and Health 2020 programmes and on the national level have not been met in Finland in terms of reducing inequalities. The general decline in mortality is reflected in increasing life expectancy, but not equally. It has been proposed that reducing absolute disparities should be the aim of public health policy given that it is difficult to tackle the relative differences in times of decreasing mortality (Mackenbach, 2015). However, not only the relative but also the absolute gap between extreme income groups has widened in Finland. High mortality is increasingly concentrated in the population segments with low economic resources, and often outside the labour force. Targeting the low end of the income distribution is essential to narrow the gap in life-expectancy differentials. Although the real income of those fully dependent on the minimum level of social benefits has slightly increased since 2011, the proportion of people in this group has increased and stood at 4.3 per cent of the population in 2013. The proportion of those whose income derived mostly (over 50%) from basic benefits was roughly nine per cent. Minimum social benefits still cover only 71 per cent of what is considered the minimum adequate level of consumption for those on unemployment or sickness benefits (National Institute for Health and Welfare, 2015).

The insufficiency of basic social benefits is likely to have negative repercussions on health in many respects. On the other hand, increasing incomes in the low end of the income distribution does not necessary add consumption beneficial to health. Therefore also the reach of health services should be emphasized. Non-employed persons generally rely on public healthcare services, which are universal and of good quality but not completely free of charge: patient fees constitute a substantially greater proportion of the disposable income of those in the lowest income quintile (Kapiainen and Klavus, 2007). Raising or introducing new patient fees in times of austerity could postpone or hinder the seeking of medical care in less severe cases among those on a low income.
The decline in mortality attributable to circulatory diseases is still the main contributor to the increasing life expectancy throughout the income distribution. However, tackling the general increasing trend in alcohol-related mortality in both sexes and smoking-attributable mortality among women is crucial to narrow the gap in life expectancy between the income groups. The substantial behavioural component in these causes of death is challenging from the policy perspective but can be addressed by regulating price and availability of alcohol and tobacco. Decreasing the affordability of these substances via taxation and minimum unit pricing might direct the preventive measures specifically to those with a low income and susceptible to the most health-related harm. The responsiveness of individuals with drinking problems and alcohol dependence to increased alcohol prices may not be straightforward (e.g. Herttua et al., 2015b) but alcohol-related harm is found to be generally inversely related to the level of alcohol prices and taxes (Wagenaar et al., 2010).

Tackling alcohol-related harm should not be confined to price in that a low income could also be a consequence of extensive alcohol consumption. Both the early detection of alcohol abuse and intervention should be emphasized in the primary-care setting specifically among the nonemployed. However, the employment level of those dying from alcoholrelated causes is roughly at the same level as that of survivors 16 years before death (Paljärvi et al., 2014). Consequently, interventions aimed at this point in time, when employment has not vet been lost, are particularly crucial given the signs of a strengthening adverse effect of unemployment on alcohol-related mortality. Despite the observation that shared childhoodfamily characteristics did not comprise a substantial explanatory factor with regard to disparity in mortality by income, cumulative adversity and social exclusion should be addressed in the early ages. It is essential to tackle school dropout levels and to encourage further education so as to reduce the risk of non-employment later in life, given the pronounced and increasing unemployment level of young people with only compulsory education (Kalenius, 2014).

8 CONCLUSIONS

Income is strongly associated with mortality. The association is a result of interrelated processes that do not remain static over time. This study strengthened the existing evidence of a mortality gradient by income among the over-35s. Part of the association could be attributed to the educational and occupational composition of the income quintiles, and the higher proportions of the unemployed and early retirees in the lowest quintiles in particular explain it to a substantial degree. Despite the fact that childhood-family socioeconomic conditions predict mortality in adulthood, childhood characteristics shared by siblings do not offer a substantial explanation of income disparity net of adulthood socio-demographic characteristics.

However, this study has shown that the association between income and mortality has grown stronger in Finland since the late 1980s. The gap between the lowest and the other income quintiles in particular increased markedly in 1988-2007, mainly because mortality declined relatively modestly in the lowest quintile among the over-65s, and increased or stagnated among those aged 35-64. Most of the adverse mortality development in the lowest income quintile originated from the nonemployed population, but was not restricted to this segment in that the increasing disparity persisted when economic activity was accounted for.

Although the decline in mortality attributable to cardiovascular diseases is driving the gains in life expectancy, the diverging development among those on a low income originates increasingly from causes of death with a substantial behavioural component. The observation of drastically increasing alcohol-related mortality in the lowest income quintile underlined this finding. Even though the increase in mortality level among those with a low income originates from alcohol-related causes, the disparity in other causes shows very little signs of decreasing. The traditional individual sociodemographic characteristics related to income, and changes in the prevalence of these factors within the income quintiles do not explain the adverse mortality trends in alcohol-related or other causes of death.

This development may reflect the increasingly harmful effects of being on a low income that operate to some extent via material and psychosocial mechanisms leading to the adoption of coping strategies that are harmful to health. The increasing affordability of alcohol has probably contributed to this change but also strengthened the role of selection into low income. Because income is partially affected by health, the growing excess mortality in the lowest quintile may imply that people are now more likely to end up with a low income before death due to poor health while still remaining employed. On the other hand, personal characteristics and behaviours that are harmful to health but were left unobserved in this study may increasingly accumulate among those with a low income. In any case, low economic resources and high mortality are increasingly connected. The strengthening behavioural component in the widening mortality disparity indicates that people with low incomes are not struggling only in terms of low economic resources but also with problems related to substance abuse prior to early death.

9 **REFERENCES**

- Adjaye-Gbewonyo K and Kawachi I (2012) Use of the Yitzhaki Index as a test of relative deprivation for health outcomes: A review of recent literature. *Social Science & Medicine* 75(1): 129–137.
- Aittomäki A, Martikainen P, Laaksonen M, et al. (2010) The associations of household wealth and income with self-rated health – A study on economic advantage in middle-aged Finnish men and women. *Social Science & Medicine* 71(5): 1018–1026.
- Allison PD (1999) Comparing Logit and Probit Coefficients Across Groups. Sociological Methods & Research 28(2): 186–208.
- Allison PD (2009) *Fixed Effects Regression Models*. Quantitative Applications in the Social Sciences, Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Armitage P, Berry G and Matthews J n. s. (2002) Survival Analysis. In: *Statistical Methods in Medical Research*, Blackwell Science Ltd, pp. 568–590.
- Backlund E, Sorlie PD and Johnson NJ (1996) The shape of the relationship between income and mortality in the United States. Evidence from the National Longitudinal Mortality Study. *Annals of Epidemiology* 6(1): 12–20; discussion 21–22.
- Bævre K and Kravdal Ø (2014) The effects of earlier income variation on mortality: An analysis of Norwegian register data. *Population Studies* 68(1): 81–94.
- Bartley M (2004) *Health Inequality an introduction to theories, concepts and methods.* Cambridge: Polity press.
- Beckie TM (2012) A Systematic Review of Allostatic Load, Health, and Health Disparities. *Biological Research For Nursing* 14(4): 311–346.
- Benzeval M and Judge K (2001) Income and health: the time dimension. *Social Science & Medicine* 52(9): 1371–1390.
- Benzeval M, Judge K and Shouls S (2001) Understanding the Relationship between Income and Health: How Much Can be Gleaned from Crosssectional Data? *Social Policy & Administration* 35(4): 376–396.
- Blakely T, Kawachi I, Atkinson J, et al. (2004) Income and mortality: the shape of the association and confounding New Zealand Census-Mortality Study, 1981–1999. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 33(4): 874–883.
- Blakely T, Tobias M and Atkinson J (2008) Inequalities in mortality during and after restructuring of the New Zealand economy: repeated cohort studies. *BMJ* 336(7640): 371–375.
- Bosma H, Mheen HD van de and Mackenbach JP (1999) Social class in childhood and general health in adulthood: questionnaire study of contribution of psychological attributes. *BMJ* 318(7175): 18–22.

- Braveman PA, Cubbin C, Egerter S, et al. (2005) Socioeconomic status in health research: One size does not fit all. *JAMA* 294(22): 2879–2888.
- Buckley J, Cohen JD, Kramer AF, et al. (2014) Cognitive control in the selfregulation of physical activity and sedentary behavior. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience* 8(747).
- Böckerman P and Ilmakunnas P (2009) Unemployment and self-assessed health: evidence from panel data. *Health Economics* 18(2): 161–179.
- Calvin CM, Deary IJ, Fenton C, et al. (2011) Intelligence in youth and allcause-mortality: systematic review with meta-analysis. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 40(3): 626–644.
- Chapman BP, Fiscella K, Kawachi I, et al. (2010) Personality, Socioeconomic Status, and All-Cause Mortality in the United States. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 171(1): 83–92.
- Chen JT, Beckfield J, Waterman PD, et al. (2013) Can Changes in the Distributions of and Associations Between Education and Income Bias Temporal Comparisons of Health Disparities? An Exploration With Causal Graphs and Simulations. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 177(9): 870–81.
- Claussen B, Smith GD and Thelle D (2003) Impact of childhood and adulthood socioeconomic position on cause specific mortality: the Oslo Mortality Study. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 57(1): 40–45.
- Clemens T, Popham F and Boyle P (2015) What is the effect of unemployment on all-cause mortality? A cohort study using propensity score matching. *The European Journal of Public Health* 25(1): 115–121.
- Cohen S, Janicki-Deverts D, Chen E, et al. (2010) Childhood socioeconomic status and adult health. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1186(1): 37–55.
- Cristia JP (2009) Rising mortality and life expectancy differentials by lifetime earnings in the United States. *Journal of Health Economics* 28(5): 984–995.
- Dowd JB, Simanek AM and Aiello AE (2009) Socio-economic status, cortisol and allostatic load: a review of the literature. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 38(5): 1297–1309.
- Dowd JB, Albright J, Raghunathan TE, et al. (2011) Deeper and wider: income and mortality in the USA over three decades. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 40: 183–188.
- Duncan GJ, Daly MC, McDonough P, et al. (2002) Optimal Indicators of Socioeconomic Status for Health Research. *American Journal of Public Health* 92(7): 1151–1157.
- Durkin A, Connolly S and O'Reilly D (2010) Quantifying Alcohol-Related Mortality: Should Alcohol-Related Contributory Causes of Death be Included? *Alcohol and Alcoholism* 45(4): 374–378.
- Elo IT (2009) Social Class Differentials in Health and Mortality: Patterns and Explanations in Comparative Perspective. *Annual Review of Sociology* 35(1): 553–572.

- Elo IT, Martikainen P and Smith KP (2006) Socioeconomic differentials in mortality in Finland and the United States: the role of education and income. *European Journal of Population / Revue européenne de Démographie* 22(2): 179–203.
- Elo IT, Martikainen P and Myrskylä M (2014) Socioeconomic status across the life course and all-cause and cause-specific mortality in Finland. *Social Science & Medicine* 119: 198–206.
- Elstad JI (1998) The Psycho-social Perspective on Social Inequalities in Health. *Sociology of Health & Illness* 20(5): 598–618.
- Elstad JI and Dahl E (2014) Fordelingsvirkninger av overføringer og trygdekutt blant alvorlig syke menn [Distributional effects of income transfers and social security cuts among seriously ill men]. *Søkelys på arbeidslivet* [*Spotlight on Working Life*] 31(3). Available from: https://oda.hio.no/jspui/handle/10642/2527 (accessed 20 October 2015).
- Fawcett J and Blakely T (2007) Cancer is overtaking cardiovascular disease as the main driver of socioeconomic inequalities in mortality: New Zealand (1981–99). *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 61(1): 59–66.
- Fors S, Modin B, Koupil I, et al. (2012) Socioeconomic inequalities in circulatory and all-cause mortality after retirement: the impact of midlife income and old-age pension. Evidence from the Uppsala Birth Cohort Study. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 66(7): e16–e16.
- Fouarge D and Layte R (2005) Welfare Regimes and Poverty Dynamics: The Duration and Recurrence of Poverty Spells in Europe. *Journal of Social Policy* 34(03): 407–426.
- Frisell T, Öberg S, Kuja-Halkola R, et al. (2012) Sibling Comparison Designs: Bias From Non-Shared Confounders and Measurement Error. *Epidemiology* 23(5): 713–720.
- Fritzell J, Nermo M and Lundberg O (2004) The impact of income: assessing the relationship between income and health in Sweden. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health* 32(1): 6–16.
- Galobardes B, Lynch JW and Smith GD (2004) Childhood Socioeconomic Circumstances and Cause-specific Mortality in Adulthood: Systematic Review and Interpretation. *Epidemiologic Reviews* 26(1): 7–21.
- Galobardes B, Lynch JW and Smith GD (2008) Is the association between childhood socioeconomic circumstances and cause-specific mortality established? Update of a systematic review. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 62(5): 387–390.
- Garcy AM and Vågerö D (2012) The length of unemployment predicts mortality, differently in men and women, and by cause of death: a six year mortality follow-up of the Swedish 1992-1996 recession. *Social Science & Medicine* (1982) 74(12): 1911–1920.
- Geyer S, Hemström Ö, Peter R, et al. (2006) Education, income, and occupational class cannot be used interchangeably in social epidemiology. Empirical evidence against a common practice. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 60(9): 804–810.

- Gravelle H and Sutton M (2009) Income, relative income, and self-reported health in Britain 1979–2000. *Health Economics* 18(2): 125–145.
- Grusky D and Weisshaar K (2014) The Questions We Ask About Inequality. Westview Press. In: Grusky D and Weisshaar K (eds), *Social Stratification: Class, Race, and Gender in Sociological Perpsective (4th edition)*, Boulder, pp. 1–16.
- Gunasekara FI, Carter K and Blakely T (2011) Change in income and change in self-rated health: Systematic review of studies using repeated measures to control for confounding bias. *Social Science & Medicine* 72(2): 193–201.
- Harald K, Salomaa V, Jousilahti P, et al. (2007) Non-participation and mortality in different socioeconomic groups: the FINRISK population surveys in 1972-92. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 61(5): 449–454.
- Harald K, Koskinen S, Jousilahti P, et al. (2008) Changes in traditional risk factors no longer explain time trends in cardiovascular mortality and its socioeconomic differences. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 62(3): 251–257.
- Härkönen JT and Mäkelä P (2011) Age, Period and Cohort Analysis of Light and Binge Drinking in Finland, 1968–2008. *Alcohol and Alcoholism* 46(3): 349–356.
- Hederos Eriksson K, Jäntti M, Lindahl L, et al. (2014) Trends in Life Expectancy by Income and the Role of Specific Causes of Death. *Stockholm University Working Paper Series* 2014(8). Available from: http://ideas.repec.org/p/hhs/sofiwp/2014_008.html (accessed 20 October 2015).
- Herttua K, Mäkelä P and Martikainen P (2007) Differential trends in alcoholrelated mortality: a register-based follow-up study in Finland in 1987– 2003. *Alcohol and Alcoholism* 42(5): 456–464.
- Herttua K, Mäkelä P and Martikainen P (2008) Changes in Alcohol-Related Mortality and its Socioeconomic Differences After a Large Reduction in Alcohol Prices: A Natural Experiment Based on Register Data. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 168(10): 1110–1118.
- Herttua K, Mäkelä P and Martikainen P (2015a) Educational inequalities in hospitalization attributable to alcohol: a population-based longitudinal study of changes during the period 2000–07. *Addiction* 110(7): 1092–1100.
- Herttua K, Mäkelä P and Martikainen P (2015b) Minimum Prices for Alcohol and Educational Disparities in Alcohol-related Mortality: *Epidemiology* 26(3): 337–343.
- Hofoss D, Dahl E, Elstad JI, et al. (2013) Selection and mortality: a ten-year follow-up of income decile mortality in Norway. *The European Journal of Public Health* 23(4): 558–563.
- Huijts T, Eikemo TA and Skalická V (2010) Income-related health inequalities in the Nordic countries: Examining the role of education, occupational class, and age. *Social Science & Medicine* 71(11): 1964– 1972.

- Islam MK, Gerdtham U-G, Clarke P, et al. (2010) Does income-related health inequality change as the population ages? Evidence from Swedish panel data. *Health Economics* 19(3): 334–349.
- Jäntti M, Bratsberg B, Røed K, et al. (2006) *American Exceptionalism in a New Light: A Comparison of Intergenerational Earnings Mobility in the Nordic Countries, the United Kingdom and the United States*. IZA Discussion Paper, Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA). Available from: https://ideas.repec.org/p/iza/izadps/dp1938.html (accessed 21 September 2015).
- Jokela M, Batty GD, Nyberg ST, et al. (2013) Personality and All-Cause Mortality: Individual-Participant Meta-Analysis of 3,947 Deaths in 76,150 Adults. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 178(5): 667–675.
- Jousilahti P, Salomaa V, Kuulasmaa K, et al. (2005) Total and cause specific mortality among participants and non-participants of population based health surveys: a comprehensive follow up of 54 372 Finnish men and women. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 59(4): 310– 315.
- Kalenius A (2014) *Koulutus, työllisyys ja työttömyys [Education, Employment and Unemployment]*. Publications of Ministry of Education and Culture, Ministry of Education and Culture. Available from: http://www.minedu.fi/OPM/Julkaisut/2014/Koulutus_tyollisyys_ja_ty ottomyys.html (accessed 22 January 2016).
- Kapiainen S and Klavus J (2007) Terveydenhuollon asiakasmaksut kasaantuvat pienituloisille [Patient fees of health services accumulate among those with low income]. *Bulletin of Centre of Health Economics CHESS Online 1:2007*. Available from:
 - http://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/76197 (accessed 8 October 2015).
- Karlson KB, Holm A and Breen R (2012) Comparing Regression Coefficients Between Same-sample Nested Models Using Logit and Probit A New Method. *Sociological Methodology* 42(1): 286–313.
- Karlsson T and Österberg E (2009) Alcohol affordability and cross-border trade in alcohol. Swedish National Institute of Public Health A, Swedish National Institute of Public Health. Available from: https://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/pagefiles/12315/A2009-06-Alcohol-affordability-and-cross-border-trade.pdf (accessed 18 January 2016).
- Kauppinen TM, Martelin T, Hannikainen-Ingman K, et al. (2014) Yksin asuvien hyvinvointi Mitä tällä hetkellä tiedetään? [Well-being of alone-dwellers What is known at the moment?]. *National Institute for Health and Welfare Working Papers 27/2014*. Available from: http://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/116768 (accessed 30 October 2015).
- Kawachi I, Adler NE and Dow WH (2010) Money, schooling, and health: Mechanisms and causal evidence. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1186(1): 56–68.
- Kitagawa E and Hauser P (1973) *Differential Mortality in the United States*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.

- Kivimäki M, Shipley MJ, Ferrie JE, et al. (2008) Best-practice interventions to reduce socioeconomic inequalities of coronary heart disease mortality in UK: a prospective occupational cohort study. *The Lancet* 372(9650): 1648–1654.
- Kondo N, Rostila M and Yngwe MÅ (2014) Rising inequality in mortality among working-age men and women in Sweden: a national registrybased repeated cohort study, 1990–2007. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 68: 1145–1150.
- Kondo N, Saito M, Hikichi H, et al. (2015) Relative deprivation in income and mortality by leading causes AMONG older Japanese men and women: AGES cohort study. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*: jech–2014–205103.
- Koskinen S, Joutsenniemi K, Martelin T, et al. (2007) Mortality differences according to living arrangements. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 36(6): 1255–1264.
- Kraus L, Østhus S, Amundsen EJ, et al. (2015) Changes in mortality due to major alcohol-related diseases in four Nordic countries, France and Germany between 1980 and 2009: a comparative age-period-cohort analysis. *Addiction* 110(9): 1443–1452.
- Krieger N, Williams DR and Moss NE (1997) Measuring Social Class in US Public Health Research: Concepts, Methodologies, and Guidelines. *Annual Review of Public Health* 18(1): 341–378.
- Kröger H, Pakpahan E and Hoffmann R (2015) What causes health inequality? A systematic review on the relative importance of social causation and health selection. *The European Journal of Public Health* 25(6): 951–960.
- Kuh D, Ben-Shlomo Y, Lynch J, et al. (2003) Life course epidemiology. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 57(10): 778–783.
- Kunst AE, Bos V, Andersen O, et al. (2004) Monitoring of trends in socioeconomic inequalities in mortality: Experiences from a European project. *Demographic Research* Special 2: 229–254.
- Laaksonen M, Prättälä R, Helasoja V, et al. (2003) Income and health behaviours. Evidence from monitoring surveys among Finnish adults. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 57(9): 711–717.
- Laaksonen M, Talala K, Martelin T, et al. (2008) Health behaviours as explanations for educational level differences in cardiovascular and allcause mortality: a follow-up of 60 000 men and women over 23 years. *The European Journal of Public Health* 18(1): 38–43.
- Lager A, Bremberg S and Vågerö D (2009) The association of early IQ and education with mortality: 65 year longitudinal study in Malmö, Sweden. *BMJ* 339: b5282.
- Lahelma E, Martikainen P, Laaksonen M, et al. (2004) Pathways between socioeconomic determinants of health. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 58(4): 327–332.
- Lahti RA and Penttilä A (2001) The validity of death certificates: routine validation of death certification and its effects on mortality statistics. *Forensic Science International* 115(1–2): 15–32.

- Lawlor DA, Sterne JAC, Tynelius P, et al. (2006) Association of Childhood Socioeconomic Position with Cause-specific Mortality in a Prospective Record Linkage Study of 1,839,384 Individuals. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 164(9): 907–915.
- Leinonen T, Sirniö O, Lahelma E, et al. (2011) Eriarvoisesti työkyvyttömyyseläkkeelle? [Inequality in disability retirement?]. In: Pietikäinen P (ed.), *Työstä, jousta ja jaksa: työn ja hyvinvoinnin tulevaisuus [Work, be flexible and manage. The future of work and well-being]*, Tutkitusti, Helsinki: Gaudeamus, pp. 30–44.
- Leinonen T, Martikainen P and Lahelma E (2012) Interrelationships between education, occupational social class, and income as determinants of disability retirement. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health* 40(2): 157– 166.
- Loomis D, Richardson DB and Elliott L (2005) Poisson regression analysis of ungrouped data. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 62(5): 325–329.
- Lundin A, Lundberg I, Hallsten L, et al. (2010) Unemployment and mortality—a longitudinal prospective study on selection and causation in 49321 Swedish middle-aged men. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 64(01): 22–28.
- Lynch J and Kaplan G (2000) Socioeconomic position. In: *Social Epidemiology (eds. Berkman and Kawachi)*, Oxford: Oxford university press.
- Lynch JW, Kaplan GA, Cohen RD, et al. (1994) Childhood and adult socioeconomic status as predictors of mortality in Finland. *The Lancet*, Originally published as Volume 1, Issue 8896 343(8896): 524–527.
- Lynch JW, Smith GD, Kaplan GA, et al. (2000) Income inequality and mortality: importance to health of individual income, psychosocial environment, or material conditions. *BMJ* 320(7243): 1200–1204.
- Lynch SM (2006) Explaining Life Course and Cohort Variation in the Relationship between Education and Health: The Role of Income. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 47(4): 324–338.
- Lynch J, Smith GD, Harper S, et al. (2006) Explaining the social gradient in coronary heart disease: comparing relative and absolute risk approaches. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 60(5): 436–441.
- Mackenbach JP (2012) The persistence of health inequalities in modern welfare states: The explanation of a paradox. *Social Science & Medicine*, Part Special Issue: Challenges to changing health behaviours in developing countries 75(4): 761–769.
- Mackenbach JP (2015) Should we aim to reduce relative or absolute inequalities in mortality? *The European Journal of Public Health* 25(2): 185–185.
- Mackenbach JP, Bos V, Andersen O, et al. (2003) Widening socioeconomic inequalities in mortality in six Western European countries. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 32(5): 830–837.

- Mackenbach JP, Kulhánová I, Bopp M, Borrell C, et al. (2015a) Inequalities in Alcohol-Related Mortality in 17 European Countries: A Retrospective Analysis of Mortality Registers. *PLoS Med* 12(12): e1001909.
- Mackenbach JP, Kulhánová I, Menvielle G, et al. (2015b) Trends in inequalities in premature mortality: a study of 3.2 million deaths in 13 European countries. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 69(3): 207–217.
- Mackenbach JP, Kulhánová I, Bopp M, Deboosere P, et al. (2015) Variations in the relation between education and cause-specific mortality in 19 European populations: A test of the 'fundamental causes' theory of social inequalities in health. *Social Science & Medicine*, Special Issue: Educational Attainment and Adult Health: Contextualizing Causality 127: 51–62.
- Mani A, Mullainathan S, Shafir E, et al. (2013) Poverty Impedes Cognitive Function. *Science* 341(6149): 976–980.
- Marmot M (2002) The Influence Of Income On Health: Views Of An Epidemiologist. *Health Affairs* 21(2): 31–46.
- Martikainen P, Valkonen T and Martelin T (2001a) Change in male and female life expectancy by social class: decomposition by age and cause of death in Finland 1971–95. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 55(7): 494–499.
- Martikainen P, Mäkelä P, Koskinen S, et al. (2001b) Income differences in mortality: a register-based follow-up study of three million men and women. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 30(6): 1397–1405.
- Martikainen P, Adda J, Ferrie J, et al. (2003) Effects of income and wealth on GHQ depression and poor self rated health in white collar women and men in the Whitehall II study. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 57(9): 718–723.
- Martikainen P, Blomgren J and Valkonen T (2007a) Change in the total and independent effects of education and occupational social class on mortality: analyses of all Finnish men and women in the period 1971– 2000. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 61(6): 499–505.
- Martikainen P, Mäki N and Jäntti M (2007b) The Effects of Unemployment on Mortality following Workplace Downsizing and Workplace Closure: A Register-based Follow-up Study of Finnish Men and Women during Economic Boom and Recession. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 165(9): 1070–1075.
- Martikainen P, Valkonen T and Moustgaard H (2009) The effects of individual taxable income, household taxable income, and household disposable income on mortality in Finland, 1998–2004. *Population Studies* 63(2): 147–162.
- Martikainen P, Ho JY, Preston S, et al. (2013) The changing contribution of smoking to educational differences in life expectancy: indirect estimates for Finnish men and women from 1971 to 2010. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 67(3): 219–224.

- Martikainen P, Mäkelä P, Peltonen R, et al. (2014) Income Differences in Life Expectancy: The Changing Contribution of Harmful Consumption of Alcohol and Smoking. *Epidemiology* 25(2): 182–190.
- Martikainen PT and Valkonen T (1996) Excess mortality of unemployed men and women during a period of rapidly increasing unemployment. *The Lancet* 348(9032): 909–912.
- McDonough P, Sacker A and Wiggins RD (2005) Time on my side? Life course trajectories of poverty and health. *Social Science & Medicine* 61(8): 1795–1808.
- Miething A and Yngwe MÅ (2014) Stability and variability in income position over time: exploring their role in self-rated health in Swedish survey data. *BMC Public Health* 14(1): 1300.

Ministry of Employment and the Economy (2015) Yli vuoden ja yli 2 vuotta kestäneet pitkäaikaistyöttömyydet [Unemployment lasting over one year and two years]. Available from:

https://www.tem.fi/files/31857/I_pitka_2015.pdf (accessed 11 February 2016).

- Ministry of Social Affairs and Health (2001) *Government resolution on Health 2015 Public Health Programme*. Publications of the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, Helsinki, Finland: Ministry of Social Affairs and Health. Available from: http://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/113586 (accessed 20 January 2016).
- Moisio P (ed.) (2011) *Perusturvan riittävyyden arviointiraportti [Evaluation Report of Sufficiency of Basic Benefits]*. National Institute for Health and Welfare, Openings. Available from: http://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/80144 (accessed 7 April 2015).
- Myrskylä P (2010) *Taantuma ja työttömyys* [*Recession and Unemployment*]. Publications of Ministry of Employment and the Economy. Available from: https://www.tem.fi/ajankohtaista/julkaisut/tyo_ja_yrittajyys/vuosi_20 10/taantuma ja tyottomyys.101927.xhtml (accessed 4 November 2015).
- Mäkelä P (1999) Alcohol-Related Mortality during an Economic Boom and Recession. *Contemporary Drug Problems* 26(3): 369–390.
- Mäkelä P and Paljärvi T (2008) Do consequences of a given pattern of drinking vary by socioeconomic status? A mortality and hospitalisation follow-up for alcohol-related causes of the Finnish Drinking Habits Surveys. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 62(8): 728– 733.
- Männistö S, Laatikainen T, Harald K, et al. (2015) Työikäisten ylipainon ja lihavuuden kasvu näyttää hidastuneen Kansallisen FINRISKIterveystutkimuksen tuloksia [The trend towards increasing obesity seems to have slowed down in the working aged Finnish population - Results from the National FINRISK Studies]. Suomen Lääkärilehti [Finnish Medical Journal] 70: 969–75.
- Nabi H, Kivimäki M, Marmot MG, et al. (2008) Does personality explain social inequalities in mortality? The French GAZEL cohort study. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 37(3): 591–602.

- Næss Ø, Hoff DA, Lawlor D, et al. (2012) Education and adult cause-specific mortality—examining the impact of family factors shared by 871 367 Norwegian siblings. *International Journal of Epidemiology*: dys143.
- Nandi A, Glymour MM and Subramanian SV (2014) Association Among Socioeconomic Status, Health Behaviors, and All-Cause Mortality in the United States: *Epidemiology* 25(2): 170–177.
- National Institute for Health and Welfare (2014) *Alcoholic beverage price trends 2013*. National Institute for Health and Welfare: Statistical Report. Available from: http://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/116195 (Archived at http://www.webcitation.org/6bPnwMKVK) (accessed 19 February 2015).
- National Institute for Health and Welfare (2015) *Perusturvan riittävyyden arviointiraportti 2011-2015* [The second expert group for evaluation of the sufficiency of basic social security. Evaluation report on the sufficiency of basic social security in 2011–2015.]. Working papers, National Institute for Health and Welfare. Available from: http://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/125703 (accessed 22 January 2016).
- OECD (2013) OECD Framework for Statistics on the Distribution of Household Income, Consumption and Wealth. OECD. Available from: http://www.oecd.org/statistics/OECD-ICW-Framework-Chapter8.pdf.
- Osler M, Christensen U, Lund R, et al. (2003) High local unemployment and increased mortality in Danish adults; results from a prospective multilevel study. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 60(11): e16–e16.
- Paljärvi T, Martikainen P, Leinonen T, et al. (2014) Non-Employment Histories of Middle-Aged Men and Women Who Died from Alcohol-Related Causes: A Longitudinal Retrospective Study. *PLoS ONE* 9(5): e98620.
- Pantell M, Rehkopf D, Jutte D, et al. (2013) Social Isolation: A Predictor of Mortality Comparable to Traditional Clinical Risk Factors. *American Journal of Public Health* 103(11): 2056–2062.
- Pappas G, Queen S, Hadden W, et al. (1993) The Increasing Disparity in Mortality between Socioeconomic Groups in the United States, 1960 and 1986. *New England Journal of Medicine* 329(2): 103–109.
- Pekkala S and Lucas REB (2007) Differences across Cohorts in Finnish Intergenerational Income Mobility. *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 46(1): 81–111.
- Pensola T, Shemeikka R, Kesseli K, et al. (2012) *Palkansaaja, yrittäjä, työtön. Kuolleisuus Suomessa 2001-07 [Employee, Entrepreneur, Unemployed. Mortality in Finland 2001-07]*. Publications of Rehabilitation Foundation.
- Pensola TH and Martikainen P (2003) Cumulative social class and mortality from various causes of adult men. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 57(9): 745–751.

Peto R, Boreham J, Lopez AD, et al. (1992) Mortality from tobacco in developed countries: indirect estimation from national vital statistics. *The Lancet* 339(8804): 1268–1278.

Ponnapalli KM (2005) A comparison of different methods for decomposition of changes in expectation of life at birth and differentials in life expectancy at birth. *Demographic Research* 12(7): 141–172.

Preston SH, Glei DA and Wilmoth JR (2010) A new method for estimating smoking-attributable mortality in high-income countries. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 39(2): 430–438.

Rahkonen O, Lahelma E and Huuhka M (1997) Past or present? Childhood living conditions and current socioeconomic status as determinants of adult health. *Social Science & Medicine* 44(3): 327–336.

Rahkonen O, Lahelma E, Martikainen P, et al. (2002) Determinants of health inequalities by income from the 1980s to the 1990s in Finland. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 56(6): 442–443.

Rahkonen O, Talala K, Sulander T, et al. (2009) Self-rated health. In: Palosuo H (ed.), *Health inequalities in Finland. Trends in socioeconomic health differences 1980-2005.*, Publications of Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, Ministry of Social Affairs and Health. Available from: http://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/111864 (accessed 9 June 2015).

Regidor E (2004) Measures of health inequalities: part 2. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 58(11): 900–903.

Rehkopf DH, Berkman LF, Coull B, et al. (2008) The non-linear risk of mortality by income level in a healthy population: US National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey mortality follow-up cohort, 1988– 2001. *BMC Public Health* 8(1): 383.

Robertson T, Benzeval M, Whitley E, et al. (2015) The role of material, psychosocial and behavioral factors in mediating the association between socioeconomic position and allostatic load (measured by cardiovascular, metabolic and inflammatory markers). *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity* 45: 41–49.

Roelfs DJ, Shor E, Davidson KW, et al. (2011) Losing life and livelihood: A systematic review and meta-analysis of unemployment and all-cause mortality. *Social Science & Medicine* 72(6): 840–854.

Roerecke M and Rehm J (2013) Alcohol use disorders and mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Addiction* 108(9): 1562–1578.

Rognerud MA and Zahl P-H (2006) Social inequalities in mortality: changes in the relative importance of income, education and household size over a 27-year period. *The European Journal of Public Health* 16(1): 62–68.

Ruhm CJ and Black WE (2002) Does drinking really decrease in bad times? *Journal of Health Economics* 21(4): 659–678.

Schnittker J (2004) Education and the Changing Shape of the Income Gradient in Health. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 45(3): 286– 305.

Semyonov M, Lewin-Epstein N and Maskileyson D (2013) Where wealth matters more for health: The wealth–health gradient in 16 countries. *Social Science & Medicine* 81: 10–17.

- Shryock HS and Siegel JS (1976) *The methods and materials of demography*. New York: Academic Press.
- Siegrist J and Marmot M (2004) Health inequalities and the psychosocial environment—two scientific challenges. *Social Science & Medicine*, Health inequalities and the psychosocial environment 58(8): 1463–1473.
- Skalická V, Lenthe F van, Bambra C, et al. (2009) Material, psychosocial, behavioural and biomedical factors in the explanation of relative socioeconomic inequalities in mortality: evidence from the HUNT study. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 38(5): 1272–1284.
- Skalická V, Ringdal K and Witvliet MI (2015) Socioeconomic Inequalities in Mortality and Repeated Measurement of Explanatory Risk Factors in a 25 Years Follow-Up. *PLoS ONE* 10(4): e0124690.
- Skog O-J (1980) Liver Cirrhosis Epidemiology: Some Methodological Problems*. *British Journal of Addiction* 75(3): 227–243.
- Søndergaard G, Mortensen LH, Andersen A-MN, et al. (2012) Does Shared Family Background Influence the Impact of Educational Differences on Early Mortality? *American Journal of Epidemiology* 176(8): 675–683.
- Statistics Finland (1997) Vuoden 1950 väestölaskennan otosaineiston käsikirja (Handbook of the 1950 census sample). Helsinki, Finland: Statistics Finland.
- Statistics Finland (2014a) Income distribution statistics 2012. Available from: http://www.stat.fi/til/tjt/2012/04/tjt_2012_04_2014-05-27_tie_001_en.html (accessed 5 February 2016).
- Statistics Finland (2014b) Kuolemansyyt 2013 [Causes of death 2013]. Available from: http://www.stat.fi/til/ksyyt/2013/ksyyt_2013_2014-12-30_tie_001_fi.html (Archived at http://www.webcitation.org/6bPnOEg25) (accessed 24 March 2015).
- Statistics Finland (2015a) Labour force survey. Unemployment rate and trend of unemployment rate 1989/01–2015/09. Available from: http://tilastokeskus.fi/til/tyti/2015/09/tyti_2015_09_2015-10-20_kuv_004_en.html (accessed 4 November 2015).
- Statistics Finland (2015b) Rahanarvonkerroin 1860–2012 (Monetary value table 1680–2012, in Finnish). Available from: http://www.stat.fi/til/khi/2012/khi_2012_2013-01-15_tau_001.html (Archived at: http://www.webcitation.org/6hER40MdJ) (accessed 25 June 2015).
- Statistics Finland (2015c) Statistics Finland The key between the short list in the time series of the causes of death since 1969 and earlier classifications. Available from:

http://www.stat.fi/til/ksyyt/2005/ksyyt_2005_2006-10-31_luo_002_en.html (Archived at:

http://www.webcitation.org/6bPnDZrnO) (accessed 25 August 2015).

Statistics Finland (2016a) Housing costs and housing expenditure indicators by income decile groups by Statistical year, Decile group and Data. *PX-Web*. Available from:

http://pxnet2.stat.fi/PXWebPXWeb/pxweb/en/StatFin_tul____tjt/300_tjt_tau_100.px/ (accessed 24 February 2016).

Statistics Finland (2016b) Income shares (%), means, medians and maximum values of decile groups by Decile group, Year, Income concept and Data. *PX-Web*. Available from:

http://pxnet2.stat.fi/PXWebPXWeb/pxweb/en/StatFin/StatFin__tul___ tjt/260_tjt_tau_116.px/ (accessed 24 February 2016).

- Strand BH, Steingrímsdóttir ÓA, Grøholt E-K, et al. (2014) Trends in educational inequalities in cause specific mortality in Norway from 1960 to 2010: a turning point for educational inequalities in cause specific mortality of Norwegian men after the millennium? *BMC Public Health* 14(1): 1208.
- Stringhini S, Dugravot A, Shipley M, et al. (2011) Health Behaviours, Socioeconomic Status, and Mortality: Further Analyses of the British Whitehall II and the French GAZEL Prospective Cohorts. *PLoS Med* 8(2): e1000419.
- Talala KM, Huurre TM, Laatikainen TK, et al. (2011) The contribution of psychological distress to socio-economic differences in cause-specific mortality: a population-based follow-up of 28 years. *BMC Public Health* 11: 138.
- Townsend P and Davidson N (1982) *Inequalitites in Health The Black Report*. Harmondsworth: Penguin.
- Valkonen T and Martikainen P (2006) Trends in Life Expectancy by Level of Education and Occupational Social Class in Finland 1981-2000. *Finnish Yearbook of Population Research* 42: 27–42.
- Valkonen T, Ahonen H, Martikainen P, et al. (2009) Socio-economic Differences in Mortality. In: Palosuo H (ed.), *Health inequalities in Finland. Trends in socioeconomic health differences 1980-2005.*, Publications of Ministry of Social Affairs and Health. Available from: http://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/111864 (accessed 9 June 2015).
- Van De Mheen HD, Stronks K and Mackenbach JP (1998) A Lifecourse Perspective on Socio-economic Inequalities in Health: The Influence of Childhood Socio-economic Conditions and Selection Processes. Sociology of Health & Illness 20(5): 754–777.
- Wagenaar AC, Tobler AL and Komro KA (2010) Effects of Alcohol Tax and Price Policies on Morbidity and Mortality: A Systematic Review. *American Journal of Public Health* 100(11): 2270–2278.
- Wamala S, Blakely T and Atkinson J (2006) Trends in absolute socioeconomic inequalities in mortality in Sweden and New Zealand. A 20-year gender perspective. *BMC Public Health* 6(1): 164.
- Wel KA van der, Dahl E and Birkelund GE (2010) Employment Inequalities Through Busts and Booms The Changing Roles of Health and Education in Norway 1980-2005. *Acta Sociologica* 53(4): 355–370.
- World Health Organization (1999) *Health21 The health for all policy framework for the WHO European Region*. European Health for All, Copenhagen: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe Copenhagen. Available from:

http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/98398/wa540g a199heeng.pdf (accessed 20 January 2016).

- Åberg Yngwe M, Fritzell J, Burström B, et al. (2005) Comparison or consumption? Distinguishing between different effects of income on health in Nordic welfare states. *Social Science & Medicine* 61(3): 627– 635.
- Åberg Yngwe M, Kondo N, Hägg S, et al. (2012) Relative deprivation and mortality – a longitudinal study in a Swedish population of 4,7 million, 1990–2006. *BMC Public Health* 12(1): 664.
- Östergren O (2015) Growing gaps: The importance of income and family for educational inequalities in mortality among Swedish men and women 1990–2009. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health* 43(6): 563–570.